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Friday, April 3rd, 2009


--- On commencing at  SEQ CHAPTER \h \r 19:31 a.m.


MR. WETSTON:  Please be seated.


Good morning, everybody, on this wonderful wet rainy, day.  We look around at these familiar faces.  I am rarely here to look at your faces.  I am usually somewhere else, but so be it.


It's an important matter that we are sitting on today, obviously, so let me introduce the matter, and then I will call for appearances.


On the 28th of January 2009, OPG filed a notice of motion for a review in variance of the Board's decision.  It is numbered EB-2007-0905, dated November 3rd, 2008.


The motion was in regard to aspects of that decision which dealt with tax losses and payment mitigation.


The previous motion for a review and variance of the same decision was brought by OPG on November 24th, 2008 and dismissed by the Board on December 19th, 2008.  The motion being heard today has been assigned the number EB-2009-0038.


OPG's motion is for an order varying the approximately $342 million reduction in OPG's revenue requirement or varying the finding that there was no connection between OPG's proposed revenue requirement reduction and regulatory tax losses carried forward from 2005-2007 period.


The motion also asks for the establishment of a variance account to record the revenue requirement reduction of $342 million incorporated in the test period payment amounts and directing that the disposition of that account be conducted in conjunction with consideration of the analysis of prior period tax returns in OPG's next rate case.


Reading this will take longer than the argument.


In the alternative, OPG requested an oral hearing on the threshold question of whether OPG's motion to vary raises the substantial question as to the correctness of the decision.


The Board issued Procedural Order No. 1 in this case and stated its intention to hold an oral hearing to consider the threshold question and the merits of the motion concurrently.


In addition to the submissions of OPG, the Board has received written submissions from School Energy Coalition, Canadian Manufacturers & Exporters, the Power Workers' Union, and the Electricity Distribution Association, as well as the submission from Board Staff.


We obviously have decided to hear submissions on the threshold question first.  I think counsel has alerted you to that; Ms. Campbell has alerted you to that.  We will then recess briefly before giving you an oral decision on this question.  If the question is decided in the affirmative, we will then proceed to hear submissions on the merits of OPG's motion.


So I hope that approach is satisfactory to counsel.  Obviously we would like to have appearances at this point, and I think Ms. Campbell asked if there were any preliminary matters and I think you indicated there were none.


MR. PENNY:  That's correct.  I think Mr. Thompson filed an additional written submission.  We have no objection to the receipt of that submission, and it can be dealt with in due course.


MR. WETSTON:  Okay, thanks Mr. Penny.  So let's have appearances, then.

Appearances:


MR. PENNY:  Yes, Mr. Chairman.  My name is Michael Penny.  I'm appearing on the applicant and moving party in this matter, Ontario Power Generation Inc.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Good morning, Mr. Chairman, Ms. Nowina.  My name is Jay Shepherd.  I am counsel for the School Energy Coalition.


MR. WETSTON:  Thank you.


MR. THOMPSON:  Peter Thompson, Mr. Chairman, for Canadian Manufacturers & Exporters.


MR. WETSTON:  Thank you, Mr. Thompson.


MR. STEPHENSON:  Good morning, Mr. Chairman.  My name is Richard Stephenson.  I am counsel for the Power Workers' Union.


MS. CAMPBELL:  Donna Campbell and Richard Battista for Board Staff.


MR. WETSTON:  Okay.  Thank you so much.  So no preliminary matters?


I think we can begin with argument on the threshold question, counsel.


MR. PENNY:  Yes, thank you, Mr. Chairman.


I was caught a little off guard by the suggestion, in the sense that -- for two reasons.  One is that the procedural order had indicated that we would hear submissions on the threshold and the merits concurrently, and that's the way I was proposing to do it, and, substantively, in some respects, at least two of the three submissions I have are the same arguments that we say raise a substantial question as to the correctness of the decision, are the same arguments we would make for why the Board should -- even if it hears the matter, should vary the prior decision, but I will try and piece things together.


MR. WETSTON:  We want to be expeditious here.  If you don't like this approach, we can take another approach.  What is going to work for counsel?


MR. PENNY:  All I can say is, substantively, Mr. Chairman, the two main issues -- there's three pieces.  We have three arguments.  One argument is natural justice.  That is purely a threshold question.  We say that just gets us in the door.  It doesn't affect the merits, because it is just a question of the right to be heard.


The other two, however, the issue of whether there's evidence to support the finding delinking the regulatory tax losses from the reduction and the issue of -- if having made that finding, there was any remaining legal basis for the reduction in the first place, those -- as I say, the same arguments that we say raise a substantial question as to the correctness of the decision are the arguments we will make as to why the Board should vary the decision.


So from that perspective, at least, it would be, in my submission, more expeditious to hear the whole thing, but I can give, if you will, a quick and dirty version of that.


MR. WETSTON:  Stop there.  Stop there.  Counsel, what do you want to do?  We're pretty flexible.


MR. SHEPHERD:  We agree with Mr. Penny.  The arguments are all the same for both components.


MR. WETSTON:  Mr. Thompson, how do you feel about it?  Between the three of you, you have 100 years' experience here.  How do you want to deal with it?


MR. SHEPHERD:  At least.


MR. THOMPSON:  Well, I was going to confine my submissions on the threshold question to the threshold question with respect to the review decision.


I take the position that we are here to conduct a review of the correctness of the review decision, and, if that's correct, then we don't get -- even get to the preceding decision.  So that is all I was going to say on the threshold question.


MR. WETSTON:  Well, now, since we have some differing views, I mean, I think on balance -- I will just discuss very briefly with Ms. -- do you have a further submission?


MR. PENNY:  I just wanted to say --


MR. WETSTON:  Honestly, we don't want to spend all of our time arguing what we should be arguing.


MR. PENNY:  Fair enough.  I did want to say, in response to Mr. Thompson, that the Board's procedural order was quite clear on page 2, in which it said that it was the intention of the Board to hold a hearing at which the threshold question of whether OPG's motion raises a substantial question as to the correctness of the decision, capital D, and the merits of the motion are considered concurrently.


And the decision is the Board's decision as defined of November 3rd, 2008.


So it was not, in my submission, contemplated in the procedural order that we were analyzing the review panel's decision.  We're analyzing, in accordance with the terms of the procedural order, the decision of November 3rd, 2008.


MR. WETSTON:  Ms. Campbell, do you have any comments before I confer?


MS. CAMPBELL:  No, Mr. Penny is correct.  Mr. Penny is correct when he alerts you to that in the procedural order that was issued.


MR. WETSTON:  Okay.


MR. THOMPSON:  Mr. Chairman, I just want to add, if Mr. Penny is correct that you are not interested in reviewing the correctness of the review decision, then I agree let's get on with dealing with the prior decision.


MR. WETSTON:  That's helpful, Mr. Thompson.  Any comments from Mr. Stephenson or anyone?


MR. STEPHENSON:  Only this.  I think Mr. Penny is right in this respect.  One of -- well, the two of the grounds and, in particular, the error of fact ground, which is a threshold issue, it seems to me it is directly relevant to the merits.  If you are satisfied there is an error of fact which warrants the crossing the threshold, that gets you if not all of the way to the decision on the merits, a very long way down the road to that.


So it is a high degree of overlap.


MR. WETSTON:  We're looking for the button here.  We put all of this effort into technology, and we still have to reach for the button.


[Board Panel confers]


MR. WETSTON:  Accepting the wisdom of my colleague, we will hear the argument as originally contemplated in the procedural order.  We won't split it.  I think on balance, that is probably the best way to proceed, Mr. Penny.


So, Mr. Thompson, we will proceed on that basis, recognizing the procedural order, accept the framework for how we are going to deal with this review application.  So please proceed, Mr. Penny.

Submissions by Mr. Penny:


MR. PENNY:  Thank you, Mr. Chairman.  Let me start by thanking the Board on behalf of OPG for scheduling this hearing promptly.  It is, as you indicated, a matter of some significance, and OPG appreciates the Board's consideration in enabling us to get this heard in a reasonable time frame.


I will likely be referring in the course of my submissions to our written arguments both in chief and reply.  I will be referring -- we tried to excerpt the relevant passages from the rather large record of the case into a manageable brief, so that is principally in this red brief called "OPG Compendium of Evidence".


There is a supplementary compendium that went with the reply I may make reference to, and then there is a brief of authorities which we also filed, which I may make reference to, if you have that.


So, as you indicated, the OPG's motion of January 28, 2009 involves the decision of the Board in EB-2007-0905, which was released on November 3rd, 2008.


This case involved the first determination by the Board of the amount OPG is to be paid by the IESO in respect of its base load hydroelectric and nuclear generating stations.  It was, in fact, the first time rates for any generator have been set by the Board.


The motion involves one particular aspect of the decision, which is the issue of regulatory tax losses and mitigation, which was dealt with in chapter 9 of the decision entitled "Design and Determination of Payment Amounts".


OPG -- just putting it very briefly, OPG had proposed to offset the test period revenue requirement by the amount of regulatory tax losses it calculated to be available to be carried forward from a prior period.


The Board in the decision held that OPG's proposal was not connected to regulatory tax losses, but imposed an amended form of the revenue reduction proposal, anyway, to the tune of approximately $342 million.


So there are three issues on this motion.  The first is the question of natural justice.  On that issue, it is OPG's submission that the Board dealt with the issue of regulatory tax losses and mitigation on a basis that was never raised in the hearing.


That OPG, will submit, denied OPG and other intervenors the opportunity to be heard on the manner of the Board's disposition of the regulatory tax loss issue, and that, we say, was a breach of natural justice, which constitutes an error of law.


The second and third issues, as we have already discussed, are relevant both to the threshold issue and to the merits.


The second issue, OPG is seeking to vary the OEB's conclusion that there is no link between the revenue requirement and reduction proposed by OPG, which the Board assessed at $342 million, and OPG's determination of regulatory tax losses available to the carried forward.


OPG is seeking this variance on the basis that the Board's conclusion that there was no connection between the tax losses and the reduction was unsupported and, indeed, contradicted by the evidence at the hearing.


The third issue, in the alternative to the second, is that OPG is seeking to vary the Board's order reducing the test period revenue requirement by the $342 million, altogether, and the basis for the third request is that, in the face of the Board's finding that the revenue requirement proposal was not based on any tax losses, we say there was then the absence of any legal basis to order the reduction, and, in the absence of any legal basis, the reduction was therefore arbitrary and deprived OPG of the opportunity to earn its approved return.


The solution that in effect, is to -- on either of those grounds, with perhaps different results, ultimately, but the solution is the establishment of a variance account.  As a practical matter we say, with respect, that once the OEB decided that it was not satisfied there were any regulatory tax losses or that they had not been correctly calculated or that -- or that there was not sufficient evidence to determine the precise amount of those regulatory tax losses, the proper response was not to require OPG to proceed to reduce its revenue requirement by the $342 million, in any event, but, rather, the proper course open to the Board was either one of two choices, and that was either remove the mitigation proposal from any calculation of the revenue requirement for the test period and remit the matter for further consideration to a future panel, or establish a variance account to record the revenue requirement reduction of $342 million that was embedded in the test period payment amount, and to consider the disposition of that amount in the context of the regulatory tax loss calculations resulting from the analysis of prior period tax returns, which was ordered by the Board to be presented in OPG's next case.


OPG is, in fact, seeking the second of those two options as the most appropriate remedy in the current circumstances.


I want to be clear that these latter two issues are in the alternative.  So, in other words, if there was no basis for the finding which delinked the revenue requirement reduction from the tax losses, that finding, we say, should be set aside and a variance account established to enable the tax loss amount to be adjusted in accordance with other findings and directions of the OEB in the decision at a future time, but if, in effect, the view that there is no connection between the revenue requirement reduction and the tax losses is maintained, then we say the OEB lacks any legitimate basis upon which to order that reduction.


So they're clearly in the alternative.


The Board's -- as we have already noted, the Board's procedural order and notice of motion of March 3rd in this matter provides that the oral hearing will consider concurrently both the threshold question and the issue on the merits.


But before turning to the test for the threshold question, which I wanted to review, let me review the decision itself and explain what it is about the Board's disposition of the tax loss issue that gives rise to this motion.


I will be referring there, Mr. Chairman, in tab 7 of our compendium, to the -- largely the chapter 9 that I referred to earlier, which starts on page 127 of the compendium.


By way of background, at the end of 2007 -- this is, I am just summarizing the first few pages of this, of the decision -- OPG had calculated some $990 million of unutilized regulatory tax losses which it regarded as being available to be carried forward into the test period.


OPG had proposed to apply these tax losses to reduce the revenue requirement in the test period in two ways:  first, by eliminating any provision for taxes that would otherwise be payable on revenues in those years; and, second, by accelerating the return of the leftover tax losses, if you will, which, in the ordinary course, would only have been available in future years into the test period.


The decision outlined the main reasons for the regulatory tax losses, starting at page 127, and you will see at the bottom of that page the Board said -- and I am talking about the compendium.  It is 167 of the decision:

"OPG calculated the accumulated regulatory tax losses of $990.2 million at the end of 2007 by computing the taxable income or loss since April 1, 2005 of the prescribed facilities plus the Bruce lease.  OPG indicated that the main reasons for the regulatory tax losses were..."


Bullet 1:

"OPG made substantial tax-deductible contributions to the segregated nuclear funds."


Bullet 2:

"The deduction in 2005 of $258 million in Pickering A return-to-service costs."


And bullet 3:

"A loss before income tax from the prescribed facilities in 2007."


Then let me say that OPG had referred to the tax losses as regulatory tax losses, because, as you probably know from reading this decision, all of the actual tax losses which had accumulated during the prior period were, in fact, used up by December 31, 2007, reducing taxes payable by the corporation as a whole, but in respect of unregulated operations.


So OPG took the view that because the tax losses had been generated by activities involving assets for which OPG was seeking to recover all costs in its application, that on the benefits follow costs principle, the tax losses should nevertheless be treated for rate-making purposes as if they were still available for application against taxable income from the prescribed assets in the test period.


So because OPG's proposal was to employ these regulatory tax losses as a substantial reduction to the test period revenue requirement, I suppose it is not surprising that the proposal had the support of intervenors.


As the Board said at the bottom of -- starting near the bottom of 128 of the compendium:

"Only a few intervenors commented on OPG's proposed mitigation and its elimination of a tax provision for 2008 and 2009.  CCC, CME and SEC supported OPG's approach.  CCC and SEC noted that absent the mitigating effect of the tax losses, the increase in payment amounts sought by OPG would be much higher than proposed in its application."


MR. WETSTON:  Mr. Penny, this wasn't obvious to me, and I know the question will be obvious and you are going to say, Why are you asking this question, but I am going to ask it anyway, because sometimes the obvious question isn't as obvious.


MR. PENNY:  Yes.


MR. WETSTON:  How many times did I say "obvious" there?  So this mitigation issue.


MR. PENNY:  Yes.


MR. WETSTON:  Where did it come from?  Why was it proposed?  It's not clear to me on the record.  It is an important component of the link issue, but you offer it up.  Tell me what it is all about.


MR. PENNY:  Well, I think I am trying to tell you what it is all about.  What it is all about is exactly what I just said, that there were these tax losses that were associated with OPG's, at least, view of the operations of the regulated assets, plus the Bruce, which is a bit of a hybrid and led to some controversy.  The treatment of it, because of the regulations, there was some controversy about it.


But in any event, there were tax losses from 2005 to 2007 that had accumulated.  In actual fact, they were used corporately, but they were offset against non-regulated revenue.


So the view was, on the stand-alone principle, if you looked at OPG as regco, the term that we often use, so it didn't have unregulated assets, and on the benefits-follows-costs principle, that even though they had actually been used up, they would notionally be regarded as having been associated with those assets, which we were asking the consumers to pay for in the payment amounts; and, therefore, they ought to be brought forward and applied against to offset taxes payable, as they would in the ordinary course if OPG had had a separate, free-standing regulated company.


So that's where the proposal comes from.


MS. NOWINA:  So, Mr. Penny, if they were, in OPG's view, legitimate tax benefits to the ratepayers who would be making the payments, why was it characterized as mitigation as opposed to just simply part of the calculation of the payments?


MR. PENNY:  Well, there are two aspects to that.


First of all, in some ways, I am not sure why.  I mean, mitigation just -- I mean, at some level, mitigation is just a reduction.


There was -- but I would say two things.  There was -- first of all, my recollection is that the terms "mitigation" was used only in respect of the accelerated portion of the tax losses.


You will recall I said that the application of the tax losses arose in two ways.  One was to actually reduce taxes payable to zero for the test period, because that as a -- I mean, of course the Board changed what the taxes would be by changing the revenues in the course of the hearing.


But as originally contemplated, there was some, I think, $160 million of taxable revenue in 2007 and $300 million of taxable revenue in 2008.  And so the first tranche was used to take the taxes on those taxable revenues to zero, so there was no tax provision in the sought revenue requirement.


That was a cost we notionally weren't going to incur on a stand-alone basis; therefore, we weren't seeking the recovery of that cost.


That part of it, I think, was never referred to as mitigation.  The only part that was referred to as mitigation was that, in recognition of the fact that a significant increase was being sought, OPG also proposed, rather than wait until future years to offset the remaining portion of the tax losses, to treat them as if there was even more revenue to use to offset in the test period and kind of accelerate the use of those.


So in that sense it was -- in that sense it was -- in a timing sense, was mitigation in the sense that it was accelerated, but it was things that would have benefitted the ratepayer in any event.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, that's helpful.


MR. PENNY:  Not just until later.


MR. WETSTON:  It is sort of like a two-part response to it?


MR. PENNY:  Yes.


MR. WETSTON:  The second part being this overarching spirit of generosity flows from your view as to the impact on ratepayers; is that what you're saying in a nutshell?


MR. PENNY:  No, I'm not saying that at all, Mr. Chairman.


With respect, perhaps -- the act perhaps of generosity arose from the acceleration, but this was not voluntary, in the sense that we were just giving a gift to the consumers.  This was something that was regarded as being something the consumers were entitled to, and we were simply giving it now instead of giving it later, that portion, that second portion of it.  That's the way I would respond to that.


MR. WETSTON:  That's helpful.


MR. PENNY:  So I did want to -- we touched on the -- sorry, is that responsive to the question?


MR. WETSTON:  Yes, thank you.  Yes, thank you.


MR. PENNY:  I touched briefly on the Bruce lease issue, and it is worth spending just a second on explaining how that comes into it.  The regulations required that the payment amounts recover costs associated with the Bruce lease, but it didn't say how.  And so there was a -- OPG's proposal had been to give effect to that requirement by, in effect, treating the Bruce assets as if they were regulated assets, and recovering a rate of return on them and so on, and that would be the way that the costs were recovered.


The Board, however, rejected that approach and held that OPG was entitled to recover those costs, but only on a GAAP accounting basis, not treating them as if they had been -- as if they had been regulated.


If you look back a little bit in that compendium to page 118 and page 119, you will see that the Board, in the middle of page 118, said:

"The Board will require that Bruce lease revenue be calculated in accordance with GAAP for non-regulated businesses."


Then you will see that one of the consequences of that is point 4 at the bottom of the page, in which the Board said that:

"OPG should include and income tax provision calculated in accordance with GAAP.  In its computation of Bruce costs, OPG proposed to exclude income taxes on the basis that there are tax loss carry-forwards available to the regulated business.  As OPG's Bruce investment is not regulated by the Board, the Board sees no basis for omitting a tax provision in the calculation of Bruce costs."


MR. WETSTON:  Mr. Penny, if you don't mind, I'm sorry.


MR. PENNY:  Yes.


MR. WETSTON:  I don't want to get ahead of you here, because I know Mr. Thompson is going to be arguing some issues on the tax issue, but is this, in part, the issue of how the taxes were calculated or how the tax losses were determined, or are they intertwined in some way?


MR. PENNY:  The point I was just making?


MR. WETSTON:  Yes.


MR. PENNY:  Or you mean at large?


MR. WETSTON:  Well, the point you were just making.  I will deal with the at large issue in a different manner.


MR. PENNY:  As I understand what the Board is saying, that OPG's $990 million of tax losses included tax losses associated with the operations at the Bruce.  The reason I just said what I said a minute ago is the reason that OPG suggested that was because it was seeking to recover costs associated with the Bruce in rate base.


So when the Board -- I don't think -- it is not really an issue, certainly for today, about the actual calculations, but, conceptually, the Board was saying, Well no, no, we don't accept your proposal.  We are going to take the Bruce stuff out.


But they recognized that that means that tax losses associated with the Bruce should also come out of any tax loss calculation.  So it is not -- it is an issue of principle, Mr. Chairman, that I am speaking of now, not an issue of the actual calculation of the taxes.


MR. WETSTON:  The methodology or approach taken?


MR. PENNY:  No.  The methodology in terms of -- what the numbers actually are at the end of the day, in our submission, would be a matter -- if we get what we're asking for in part 1 of our motion and there's a recognition that this proposal was rooted in the calculation of tax losses, and there is then a deferral account, the actual calculations will all be reviewed, subject to -- and detailed evidence filed.


My friends will have the ability to respond, to cross-examine witnesses and do everything else, to challenge whatever methodology OPG uses.


MR. WETSTON:  That proposal is for the next case?


MR. PENNY:  Yes.  Absolutely.  The actual numbers is not for this case.  It's -- what we're getting at is the principle in this case.


MR. WETSTON:  Thank you.


MR. PENNY:  Now, then the issue gets picked up, if you would turn with me to page 128 of the compendium, at the bottom of the page, you will see under the heading "Board Findings".


MR. WETSTON:  What page is that again?


MR. PENNY:  Page 128 of the compendium, Mr. Chair.  It says:

"OPG's proposal to exclude a tax provision from the revenue requirement and to reduce the revenue requirement by a further $228 million mitigation amount..."


And that, Ms. Nowina, is the second piece that I was discussing a moment ago:

"...are both linked to the $990.2 million of regulatory tax losses that OPG claims existed at December 31, 2007.  OPG's tax calculations did not receive much scrutiny during this proceeding.  Although intervenors supported OPG's proposal or were silent on the issues, the Board is not convinced that OPG has taken the right approach to income tax issues in its application.  The Board is not convinced that there are any regulatory tax losses to be carried forward to 2008 and later years, or, if there are any, that the amount calculated by OPG is correct.  Reasons for the Board's concerns about OPG's treatment of taxes include..."


Then bullet point 1 is coming back to this Bruce issue:

"OPG's calculation of regulatory tax losses for 2005-2007 includes revenues and expenses relating to OPG's Bruce lease.  The Bruce stations are not prescribed assets and OPG's Bruce lease is not regulated by the Board.  In the Board's view, any calculation of tax losses in respect of the prescribed facilities should exclude revenues and expenses related to the Bruce lease."


Then if you would flip over the page to page 130 of the compendium, at the top you will see it says:

"Although the Board is not convinced that regulatory tax loss carry forwards existed at the end of 2007 or that OPG's treatment of taxes is appropriate, the Board is not making a finding that all of the tax benefits of pre-2008 tax loss issues should accrue to OPG's shareholder.  The Board believes the benefit of tax deductions and losses that arose before the date of the Board's first order should be apportioned between electricity consumers and OPG, based on the principle that the party who bears the cost should be entitled to any related tax savings or benefits.  The Board has adopted this principle in other cases where a company owns both regulated and unregulated businesses.


Let me pause there to say, Mr. Chairman, that there is no controversy about that, from our point of view, that that -- the principle, I think, was not a point of controversy.  The only issue is how you implement that policy.


The Board then goes on to give two illustrations of the -- what it says are the practical consequences of that principle, and their first illustration has to do with the Pickering A return to service costs and tax losses associated with that.


And they say, Well, of course consumers are going to be paying for that, so they should get the associated tax losses.  They give then -- the second example is:

"OPG's evidence indicated that in 2007 its regulated operations incurred an $84 million loss before income taxes.  It would appear that the operating loss in 2007 was borne completely by OPG's shareholder.  Consumers have not been required to absorb that loss, because the payment amounts for 2007 were set in 2005 and did not change.  Accordingly, in the Board's view, none of the tax benefits of that loss should accrue to consumers."


So there, they're giving an example, again, of tax losses that would not benefit consumers.


Then the Board goes on to say -- and this is the punch line, if you will, of the findings that we take issue with.  The Board then goes on to say, looking to the bottom of that page:

"With respect to 2008-2009, the Board is not able to agree, for the reasons outlined above, with OPG's position that regulatory tax losses permit it to eliminate an income tax provision.  Because there is no evidence about the amount of the pre-2008 tax benefits that appropriately should be carried forward to offset 2008 and 2009 payments in lieu, the Board views OPG's proposal to eliminate an income tax provision in the test period as simply mitigation.

"OPG has effectively agreed to absorb whatever tax provision would otherwise be required for those years.  The Board finds that this mitigation should be retained in OPG's calculation of their revenue requirement and payment amounts that flow from the Board's findings in this decision.  That is, OPG should not include any tax provision for 2008 and 2009 in respect to the prescribed assets.

"As for OPG's proposed $228 million mitigation amount, the Board also does not accept there is any connection between that amount and any regulatory tax losses.  OPG's offer of $228 million of mitigation was made in the context of the revenue requirement before mitigation shown in OPG's application."


So it is those findings, in essence, that OPG seeks to vary on the basis that they are unsupported by the evidence or -- and that they're inconsistent with other findings of the Board, or, alternatively, that they are beyond the jurisdiction of the Board.


But it is also relevant, while we're on that page, to look at the last full paragraph, because the Board went on to direct OPG to refile evidence in its next case on the proper calculation of tax losses, both on a prospective basis and for the 2005-2007 period.


You will see that, where they say:

"In its next application for payment amounts for the prescribed assets, the Board will require OPG to file better information on its forecast of the test period income tax provision.  To that end, the income tax provision for the prescribed facilities in future applications should not include any income or loss in respect of the Bruce lease."


So that is prospective.  Then they say:

"The Board also expects OPG to file an analysis of its prior period tax returns..."


That's the 2005-2007:

"...that identifies all items, income inclusions, deductions, losses in those returns that should be taken into account in the tax provision for the prescribed facilities.  That analysis should be based on the principle that if OPG is proposing that electricity consumers should bear a cost or should benefit from revenues, they will receive the related tax benefit or will be charged the related income taxes."


So, in a sense, we're simply trying to connect the dots, in a way, between the finding that there is this revenue requirement reduction of $342 million, and the requirement that we do a reanalysis based on the directions of the Board, i.e., that things like the Bruce lease shouldn't be in there, operating losses shouldn't be in there, et cetera, and there are some others - I'm just focussing on those, because they're the clearest ones or the main ones - and to give effect to that direction through the application of a variance account, which enables an ultimate true-up of that number.


MR. WETSTON:  Let me ask you this, since we get back indirectly to the threshold issue.


Jurisdiction comes and jurisdiction goes.  It's readily used as a basis for one argument and used as a basis to suggest another argument.  I want to hone in on what you are really getting at here from the point of view of the legal error.


I can go with you to this point and say, Well, if there's some basis here for the fact that it is unsupported by the evidence, one can make a reasonable finding that if that is the case, there's been a legal error.


One can go further and say, If there are inconsistencies, it can go that far and say, Well, you may be able to find some basis for a legal error.  What the remedy is I leave for a moment.  Jurisdiction?  We either have it or we don't have it.


MR. PENNY:  Yes.


MR. WETSTON:  You are not raising it.  It sounds to me, frankly, that that argument is probably your -- not your second or third argument, but probably your fifth or sixth argument.


MR. PENNY:  I only have three.


MR. WETSTON:  I want to hone in -- that's what I'm saying.  I want to hone in on really -- in fairness to counsel, what you are really attempting to suggest here.  If you are really relying on the fact that you believe, based on this, that it is unsupported by the evidence, we will obviously pay attention to that argument, or otherwise, but I am not sure how much attention we should be paying to arguments that probably don't have as strong a foundation, if I could put that way.


And I am suggesting to you the jurisdictional might be your fifth or sixth argument, not your third.  You don't have to comment on it, if you don't wish.


MR. PENNY:  Well, I hear you, Mr. Chairman, and my response is it certainly is -- I mean, of the two main arguments on the merits, if you will, leaving aside the natural justice point for a moment, it is obviously our second argument.


I don't have five arguments, but maybe if I had five arguments, it would be our fifth argument.  I am not sure.  But there is a principle -- I do see a jurisdictional issue, with great respect, although it flows from the disposition of the first issue.


So, in other words, the linkage is -- between the evidentiary issue and the jurisdictional issue, the linkage is that our first position is that the Board finding that delinked the tax losses from the revenue requirement reduction does not find any support in the evidence and leads to inconsistencies in the decision.


All I'm saying in the alternative is, if you were to say, No, no, no, there is no link between the regulatory tax losses and the revenue requirement deduction, that's just a gift that OPG offered to the people of Ontario, I'm saying that that of course -- the evidence suggests that isn't the case, as I have already submitted.  OPG took the view it was required to do that.


But if you were to -- if you were to take that view that there was this complete lack of any relationship between regulatory tax losses and the revenue requirement reduction in the test period, and only then, I say.


Then you have to ask:  What is the legitimate basis for that revenue requirement reduction?  If you cannot -- and if it's not regulatory tax losses, what is it?  There was none other offer, and so it's only in that narrow context that I say the Board lacked jurisdiction, and it really ties to this issue of:  If it's not supported by a rational legal basis, then it's arbitrary, and then it has the effect of depriving OPG of the ability to earn its return.


So that's how the argument fits.


MR. WETSTON:  I understand the argument.  I just want to -- just so that you're not caught by surprise on my thinking - my colleague may have different thinking - I'm a real stickler on jurisdiction.


MR. PENNY:  I appreciate that.


MR. WETSTON:  And I'm a real stickler on it, because basically its use is often maintained for a purpose which I don't think is, frankly, what we're really talking about.  I think we may be talking about the failure to exercise an appropriate authority or exercising judgment on the basis of really not having the sufficient basis to exercise that judgment which I don't -- I rarely see as a jurisdictional issue, but that is okay.  I understand your argument.


MR. PENNY:  I am not arguing on the factual issue that that is a jurisdictional argument.  I'm arguing there was an error on the factual issue.  If you agree with me, then we don't even need to talk about the jurisdictional point.


MR. WETSTON:  I see.  Thanks very much for that.  Go ahead.


MR. PENNY:  So I thought it was important to flag the relevant passages of the decision so we understand exactly what it is we're talking about.


MR. WETSTON:  That's helpful.


MR. PENNY:  I did want to -- if you want to hear from me on the Board's rules and what the context of the threshold question is, I was going to review the rules and the finding of the Board in the NGEIR case on how that works.  I am happy to skip over that.


MR. WETSTON:  I think we are very familiar with it.  I would rather you get to the point of your argument on the issue, rather than taking us through the rules of the NGEIR decision.


MR. PENNY:  Thank you.


MR. WETSTON:  Including the fact that Ms. Nowina sat on that review case, laboured over the reasons.  So I think she is as familiar with them as I am, thank you.


MR. PENNY:  I guess the main point of that submission was simply going to be the finding that you don't need to be on the enumerated list in order to qualify.  That was the clear finding.  And we are on the enumerated list on our error of fact, anyway, but perhaps with the jurisdictional argument not, and that the substantial question as to the correctness of the decision arises from section 44, and that's the test.


So with that, let me turn to our first ground, which is just the -- which is just the threshold ground, which is the denial of natural justice.  The Power Workers' Union has a more extensive submission on this point, and we simply adopt and rely on my friend's submissions.


In essence, we say the law is that it is a denial of natural justice and, therefore, an error of law to decide a case on a ground that was not advanced in the hearing and which the participants have not been given an opportunity to address.  It is our submission that this is what happened here.


I am not suggesting any ill will or lack of acuity in the way this issue was resolved; these things happen.  But the fact remains that at no time during the hearing was it ever argued that maybe OPG's proposal to reduce the test period revenue requirement really had nothing whatever to do with tax losses, and that OPG was simply proposing to make an unqualified gift to Ontario's electricity consumers of hundreds of millions of dollars; nor did anyone ever suggest during the hearing that OPG had failed to calculate the prior period tax returns correctly, but that OPG should, in any event, be required to reduce its revenue requirement by the amount of the proposal or some amended amount of the proposal.


So, in my submission, OPG and others simply did not have the opportunity to speak to these issues, because they were never raised.  Had such suggestions been made, OPG would have advanced precisely the arguments it is making on this motion, that there was no evidence to support such a conclusion, and that requiring OPG to reduce its revenue requirement by $342 million without any justification would be beyond the Board's jurisdiction.


MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Penny, I'm sorry to interrupt you, but I just want to clarify one point.  You said, Nor did anyone ever suggest during the hearing that OPG had failed to calculate the prior period tax returns correctly, comma --


MR. PENNY:  No.


MS. NOWINA:  Now, is that phrase standing on its own or is it only when linked to the --


MR. PENNY:  Linked to the rest of it, which is:  But that they should be required to cough it up, anyway.


MS. NOWINA:  The question of the tax calculations themselves was a point of review and submissions in the hearing?


MR. PENNY:  Actually, the answer to that is no.  Even the calculation was not raised during the hearing.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.


MR. PENNY:  I was pausing on that, but both my recollection is it was not -- both Mr. Barrett and Ms. Reuber, who were both there, Mr. Barrett being a witness, their recollection is it was not.  So not even the calculation issue was raised.


But I guess the point I am really making is the linkage to, even if you didn't get it right, we're still going to make you pay the amount.


MS. NOWINA:  I understand.


MR. PENNY:  Again, I say we are just trying to connect the dots here.  If we didn't do it right, then let's do it right and let's pay that amount, but let's not be paying some arbitrary -- let's not be crediting some arbitrary amount that has no grounding in the evidence.


MR. WETSTON:  Is there such a thing as a right amount?


MR. PENNY:  Well, yes.


MR. WETSTON:  Or is it simply a matter of judgment?


MR. PENNY:  No, it is not a matter -- I suppose -- I suppose that at the margins there might be aspects of the calculation which involve judgment, but those -- we're not there.  We haven't been through any of that.  But I would say it is a factual question and, therefore, at some level, there is a right amount.


You apply the appropriate principles, you turn the crank, and a number comes out, and, if the principles are right, then the number is right.  But the extent to which any judgment might come into that I guess will be a question for another day when this -- when this is reviewed.


MR. WETSTON:  May I ask you just one more question, and it flows from Ms. Nowina's question?  You left the comma hanging.  Where does this comma --


MS. NOWINA:  I'm just --


MR. WETSTON:  Where is the comma?  I'm sorry, but I want to get this right, because this shouldn't be an important part of this decision.  Help me with this comma.


MS. NOWINA:  That's my fault, Mr. Chair.  I am reading from the transcript that is being written.


MR. WETSTON:  I see.


MS. NOWINA:  I understood Mr. Penny was reading from his notes, too, so I think the two of us understood where the comma in his sentence was.


MR. WETSTON:  I understood his argument to that point, but I didn't quite understand the comma.  Thank you for that clarification.


MR. PENNY:  I was about to respond to an argument that the SEC has raised in connection with this denial of natural justice in their argument, which is, they say, in effect, that all that really happened here was that the Board fashioned a remedy other than the ones that the parties had proposed.


They analogize the Board's disposition of the tax loss issue to a compromise, in that they say, Well this happens all the time.  The Board doesn't always land exactly where the parties wanted them to land.


But, in my submission, the Board's disposition of the tax loss and mitigation issue is not in any way, shape or form a compromise or analogous to a compromise.  By definition, a compromise is something that falls between the extremes or between the parameters of the debate.


The issue here is that no party opposed OPG's proposal during the hearing.  There were no competing parameters of the debate.  So our concern, OPG's concern, is not that the Board's decision on this issue didn't pick one of the parties' recommendations.  Our complaint is that the disposition of the tax loss issue felt outside the parameters of any discussion at the hearing.


If it was decided -- it was, in effect, decided on a basis that was never raised at all.


That, in my submission, is sufficient, in and of itself, to warrant a review.  So in other words, in my submission, that issue is sufficient, in and of itself, to overcome the threshold question and to say, Well, there is a substantial question as to the correctness of the decision, because the parties never had an opportunity to address the Board's disposition, the manner in which the Board proposed to dispose of that issue.


But there is of course two other grounds, and these are the substantive grounds for noting the correctness of the decision, and these are the two that I alluded to earlier, errors of fact and inconsistent findings, and the alternative argument of lack of jurisdiction in the absence of legal justification.


Let me then turn to the contrary to facts in evidence.


The Board's finding, we say, that the revenue requirement reduction being proposed by OPG on account of regulatory tax losses was actually not connected to the regulatory tax losses, but was simply mitigation in respect of which OPG had merely agreed to absorb whatever tax losses it would otherwise incur during the test period, in my submission, had no foundation in the evidence, the essence of those findings we reviewed a few moments ago.


Our argument covers the factual record in some detail, our written argument, so it is not my intention to walk through it all, but let's look at a few of these discussions.


OPG's evidence-in-chief at the hearing was never challenged in cross-examination or contradicted by any other evidence.


That evidence was that the regulatory taxable income calculation for the years 2005-2007 results in tax losses for those years, and that the regulatory tax losses accumulated to the end of 2007 that were available to be carried forward were, on the basis of their calculation, some $990 million.


You can see that in the compendium at tab 2, page 18.  So this is from the prefiled evidence, Exhibit F3, tab 2, schedule 1, page 11, and in the first full paragraph you will see the opening passage says:

"The regulatory taxable income calculation for the years 2005 to 2007 results in tax losses for those years as shown in table 7, 8 and 9.  The actual accumulative tax losses at the end of 2007 that are available to be carried forward are 990.2 million.  These tax losses were generated mainly due to OPG's contributions to segregated funds, which are deductive for tax purposes under the Electricity Act and regulations thereunder."


If you drop to the bottom of that page, "Typically", the last paragraph that carries over:

"Typically, if a net tax loss arises in a particular year, it is carried forward to reduce regulatory taxable income in future years.  OPG has applied its projected total cumulative tax losses at the end of 2007 to reduce the projected regulatory taxable income in 2008 and 2009 of $163 and $324 million, respectively, to nil.  In this application, the projected tax losses are also used to mitigate the customer bill impacts of OPG's payment amount and deferral variance account recovery proposals.  This mitigation proposal is described in Exhibit K."


Then if you turn, then, to page 24 of the compendium under the same tab, you will see the discussion.  We don't need to read it all, but starting at line 10, it says:

"The regulatory taxable income calculation for 2005-2007 results in tax losses for those years.  OPG has used the accumulated tax losses at the end of 2008 to reduce the regulatory taxable income for 2009 to nil.

"The projected remaining balance of regulatory tax losses is $500 million."


Then it goes on to say:

"Absent anything further, the OPG would propose to carry that balance forward to use in future years."


But OPG agreed or proposed to accelerate that, not use it in future years, but use it now.


The direct relationship --


MR. WETSTON:  Do you have a problem with that finding?


MR. PENNY:  Sorry, with what finding?


MR. WETSTON:  What you just read.


MR. PENNY:  This is OPG's evidence, Mr. Chair.


MR. WETSTON:  I thought this was from the decision.


MR. PENNY:  No.  No.


MR. WETSTON:  I'm sorry.


MR. PENNY:  I am reviewing the evidence --


MR. WETSTON:  Page 24 is not from the decision?


MR. PENNY:  This is the evidence, Mr. Chairman.  The last two passages I have been reviewing have been OPG's evidence.  I am reviewing this --


MR. WETSTON:  These last two paragraphs?


MR. PENNY:  Yes.  This page is from Exhibit K1, tab 1 --


MR. WETSTON:  I have it.  I just didn't look at where it came from.


MR. PENNY:  I'm sorry.  So my point is --


MR. WETSTON:  Sometimes you're referring to the decision; sometimes you're referring to the evidence.


MR. PENNY:  I maybe jumped too quickly.


MR. WETSTON:  For me you probably did.  It's fine.  I am with you now.  Slow down, then.


MR. PENNY:  All right.  I will.


MR. WETSTON:  Thank you so much.


MR. PENNY:  I am sure -- the poor reporter is nodding vigorously.


MR. WETSTON:  I think she gave up on you an hour ago.  We spent 142 days together in a hearing, as I recall, or a good part of it, so we are familiar with each other's style.  She may not be as familiar with yours.  Go ahead, Mr. Penny.


MR. PENNY:  Thank you, Mr. Chairman.


The direct relationship between OPG's proposal to reduce its revenue requirement and its calculation of regulatory tax losses was also explored in a number of interrogatories, particularly in Exhibit L, tab 1, schedules 115 and 116, and those are reproduced in the evidence compendium at pages 29 and 30.


If you would look with me at page 29 in the response at the bottom to subquestion (b), you will see it says that:

"OPG's prescribed and non-prescribed assets are in the same corporate entity.  Therefore, any actual tax losses incurred by the prescribed assets in 2005 through 2007 would automatically offset any actual taxable income generated by the non-prescribed assets and, accordingly, would reduce payments by OPG as a whole. There are no actual corporate tax losses available to reduce PILs payments by OPG as a single corporate entity in 2008 or later years.  However, as stated by OPG's counsel at the hearing on February 6th, 2008 and as noted ..."


Then they cite the evidence, part of which we just reviewed:

"For the purposes of this application OPG has calculated regulatory tax losses that have been generated by the prescribed assets on a stand-alone basis since April 1, 2005.  These losses are used to reduce OPG's regulatory taxes as part of the proposed revenue requirement calculation for the benefit of the ratepayers through lower payment amounts in 2008 and 2009."


Then the other interrogatory, 116, if you turn to page 32 of the compendium -- I am at the bottom of the page on that answer.  Starting at line 39, the evidence was that:

"OPG's proposal is also consistent with OPG's view that ratepayers are entitled to the benefit of regulatory income tax losses generated by the regulated operation since April 1, 2005 as discussed in F3, tab 2, schedule 1.  The amount of the regulatory tax losses generated during the period from April 1, 2005 to December 31, 2007 is $990.2 million, which translates into an approximate benefit to consumers of $312 million at a tax rate of 31.50 percent."


Then, again, we won't walk through it all, Mr. Chairman, but the -- not only was the prefiled evidence entirely consistent and never challenged and there was no contrary evidence, but during the hearing, during oral testimony, that evidence was confirmed.


I have reproduced -- I won't walk you through it.  We have put in the evidence excerpts at tab 4, but I have cited the key passages that we rely on in my written argument at page 9, starting at paragraph 34, where we say during the technical conference, Mr. Barrett said, in connection with OPG's proposed reduction of the test period revenue requirement on account of regulatory tax losses that, and I am quoting:

"The revenue requirement as presented in the filing includes zero taxes payable during the test period.  Beyond taking taxes to zero, we have through this mitigation proposal accelerated return of the leftover tax losses so the revenue requirement presentation tax taxes to zero."


Then on June 10, 2008, another of OPG's witnesses from the finance side, Mr. Heard, was being cross-examined by Mr. Thompson.  Mr. Thompson's question:

"But if there were no tax losses, am I right that the revenue requirement in 2008 and 2009 would be higher by the amount of taxes attributable to the $163 million and the $324 million..."


I say in brackets taxable income:

"... shown at line 23 for 2008 and 2009?

"Mr. Heard:  Yes, that would increase the revenue requirement, if there was tax."


Then, again, on June 20 of 2008, Mr. Barrett testified in a discussion with, I believe, Mr. Rupert, and he said:

"We have essentially just looked at the regulated assets and calculated our regulated taxes without reference to the unregulated part of the company, and that analysis over the 2005 to 2007 period results in tax losses.  As you pointed out, as an actual matter of fact, those tax losses were used, but for purposes of our regulatory approach, we're saying they are not used and they're available to ratepayers and we have brought them forward to return to ratepayers."


So, in my submission, the evidence was clear and unchallenged that OPG's proposal to reduce its revenue requirement was rooted in the principle of bringing forward regulatory tax losses from the prior period.  There was, as I've said, no contrary evidence, and that evidence was never challenged in cross-examination.


The Board's finding, therefore, that there was no connection between the proposed revenue requirement reduction and any regulatory tax losses, in my submission, cannot be supported by any evidence at the hearing, and, therefore, we say we fall within the exact language of this Board in the NGEIR decision on the threshold issue, in which they say that a serious issue about the correctness of the decision arises if a finding is unsupported by any evidence at the hearing.


We say further, of course, that that also constitutes a reason why the Board -- not only does it call into question the correctness of the decision, but it leads you -- as Mr. Stephenson was alluding to earlier, leads you to the conclusion that that finding should be varied and that finding, of the delinking be set aside.


I will get to what the consequences of that are in a few minutes, but that is the threshold -- the fundamental request.


The legal proposition, I think, is uncontroversial, but we have in our brief of authorities included several statements of this well-recognized principle that a finding without evidence is an error of law.


The case of Sheddy against the Law Society of British Columbia, for example, which is reproduced in tab 3 of our brief of authorities, involved an allegation against a lawyer of professional misconduct for allowing a witness to swear an affidavit with an exhibit missing.


MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Penny, if you want to slow it down to make sure we are with you?


MR. PENNY:  Sorry.


MS. NOWINA:  So this is in your --


MR. PENNY:  This is in something called the "Brief of Authorities".


MS. NOWINA:  Okay.


MR. PENNY:  It should be divided into tabs.


MS. NOWINA:  Right.


MR. PENNY:  I am at tab 3.


MS. NOWINA:  Sheddy versus Law Society?


MR. PENNY:  Sheddy versus Law Society of British Columbia.  I was just saying the simple facts of the case were there was an allegation of professional misconduct against a lawyer.  The discipline committee hearing the case had held that provisional misconduct was not proven, but it then made a finding of incompetence and imposed a reprimand on the lawyer.


There was an appeal of that decision to the British Columbia Court of Appeal, ultimately, and you will see the essential point is in the head note at page 2, at the bottom of the page where it says "Held", "Appeal allowed."  Since the issue of incompetence was not before the panel, it was fundamentally unfair for the panel to make such a finding.  No evidence was presented regarding the practice or convention in the handling of exhibits relative to affidavits.  To make a finding of fact on no evidence was an error of law."


MR. WETSTON:  Is the only case you could find in 100 years of jurisprudence about lawyers, Mr. Penny?


[Laughter]


MR. WETSTON:  Surely there are a hundred other cases.


MR. PENNY:  There are indeed a hundred other cases.


MR. WETSTON:  Financial people, engineers, accountants, anything?


MR. PENNY:  I have to say it did give me some pause.  Leaving out an exhibit in an affidavit, it makes us all squirm a little bit, I'm sure.


If you would flip with me to page --


MR. WETSTON:  At least there was no finding of incompetence.


MR. PENNY:  Because there was no evidence, Mr. Chairman, and that is what I am about to turn to.


MR. WETSTON:  I appreciate that, Mr. Penny.


MR. PENNY:  Page 9, paragraph 18 at the top of the page, this is dealing with the -- specifically with the evidentiary point, and you will see that the court says:

"It is not necessary to decide on this appeal what sort of evidence, if any, must be adduced to establish an allegation of incompetence in a citation against a member of the Law Society.  In this case, there is an absence of evidence which could reasonably support a finding of incompetence.  There is no rule, either in the Law Society's rules or in the Supreme Court rules, governing the facts that gave rise to this citation.  To make a finding of fact on no evidence in the absence of a clear rule is an error of law.  In my opinion, this ground of appeal should also succeed."


So, I mean, I think it is an uncontroversial proposition, Mr. Chairman, but -- there is other authorities cited.  I won't take you through them.


So we ask, therefore, on the basis of the evidence that was filed in an application of this legal principle, that the Board's finding that there was no connection between tax losses and the proposed revenue requirement, that it was simply mitigation and that OPG had just agreed to absorb the tax costs, be varied as being unsupportable on the evidence.


We say the proposal to reduce the test period revenue requirement was unambiguously and consistently and unchallengedly, if I can put it that way, rooted in OPG's conception of the principle of benefits follow costs, that the tax losses associated with the regulated assets should be brought forward to benefit customers who are paying for the generation of those assets.


This gives rise to, then, a second aspect of the erroneous factual finding made by the Board and the need for a variance account, because if you were to agree with me that there was a link between OPG's proposal to reduce the revenue requirement in the test period and regulatory tax losses being utilized, it necessarily follows that the decision is inconsistent, because tax losses, the Board said, should be excluded from the calculation of regulatory tax losses that benefit consumers of the prescribed facilities, are in fact embedded in the revenue requirement reduction imposed by the Board of the $342 million.


Put another way, the $340 million of what the Board called "simple mitigation" that the OEB ordered in the decision does not reflect any of the adjustments the Board ordered -- that OPG should include in its calculation of regulatory tax losses in respect of that prior period.


That includes, for example, the direction that the Bruce tax losses should be excluded and that the tax losses associated with operating losses in 2007 should be excluded; that the reduction from the original proposal to the $342 is simply a mathematical reduction of 22 percent, which was based on, again, I say, a misconception of what the proposal was all about and does not adjust for the very findings that the Board made about how that calculation should be done.


Now -- and it appears that the reason that the Board did not adjust for those findings in ordering the $342 million of revenue reduction is because of the finding that the proposal to reduce the revenue requirement was not founded on regulatory tax losses.


So if, as we submit, that finding was wrong and the reduction, as all the evidence suggests, was based on a concept of regulatory tax losses, then the Board made inconsistent findings.  And the inconsistency, if I can perhaps put it one more way, is that on the one hand the OEB found that tax losses associated with the Bruce stations and the 2007 operating losses should not accrue to consumers, but, on the other hand, the OEB ordered a revenue requirement reduction which reflects tax losses associated with both those items, without a provision for a variance account to enable subsequent adjustments to that to be made.


That is, in effect, what leads directly to the request for a variance account, which has, I hasten to say, underpinned OPG's motions from the outset, because without a variance account to record any differences between the tax losses that are embedded in rates, today, the $342 million, and those calculated in accordance with the OEB's directions, it may well be that OPG has credited too much.  It may be indeed that they have credited too little.


But without a variance account, there will be no way to record any differential.


We framed this request in just this way in our original argument that was filed with the motion on January 28.  In that argument, we said, at paragraph 53.


n OPG's submission, once the Board decided it was not satisfied that there were any regulatory tax losses, or that they had not been correctly calculated or that there was not sufficient evidence to determine the amount of those tax losses, then the proper response was not to just say, Well, but we're going to make you -- make the reduction anyway.


Rather, the lawful response, if you will, in the face of the evidence, was to say, Well, if we have a concern about calculation, that's a different thing.  We can deal with that by either taking the mitigation proposal out altogether and just coming back to it at a future time and making an adjustment based on a deferral account disposition, or stick with the $342 million, for now, that was embedded in the test period payments, and then consider the disposition of that amount in the context of any regulatory tax loss calculations resulting from an analysis of prior -- of the prior period returns that was ordered by the Board in the next case.


MR. WETSTON:  So is this the point you're making in paragraph 79 and 80 of your submission?


MR. PENNY:  Yes.  As well -- that's in the reply submission, yes, that's correct.


MR. WETSTON:  That's the point you are making there?


MR. PENNY:  Yes.  Let me just double-check that, but I believe that is correct.


MR. WETSTON:  I think it is.  We all understand the purposes of this variance account.


Do you feel comfortable in the submission that this was clear at the outset?


MR. PENNY:  Sorry, what was clear at the outset?


MR. WETSTON:  The proposal of the variance account.


MR. PENNY:  I absolutely feel --


MR. WETSTON:  I am just asking the question.


MR. PENNY:  I am going to address Mr. Thompson's submission of just the other day, but if you -- the compendium has the original notice of motion in it.


MR. WETSTON:  Let me just refer --


MR. PENNY:  If you would look at --


MR. WETSTON:  You can take me there, but I just want to ask you another part to this.


So the variance account, I understand your argument and its purpose that you're suggesting.  Does it have any retroactivity elements associated with it?  Are there any concerns about that with respect to the calculation of the payments and the rationale for this variance account?


Do you have any concerns about that?  Does that flow at all in this case?


MR. PENNY:  I say no.  Of course, all deferral and variance accounts are disposed of, in effect, after the fact.  In that sense they have retrospective effect, but there is no issue -- if you are using the word in what I would regard as the technical, legal sense, I would say, no, there is no issue of retroactivity.


MR. WETSTON:  So you are characterizing it in the sense of retrospective and not retroactive.  I understand your argument.  I want to clarify it, because I want to understand the purpose of the regulatory tool, and I think I understand.


Take me to the clarity of your relief request.


MR. PENNY:  Yes.  If you look at page -- it starts at page 9, but I will ask you -- of the compendium, I am talking about, of tab 1.  That's the first notice of motion.


If you would look at page 12, paragraph 12, sub 4.  Do you have that, Mr. Chairman?


MR. WETSTON:  I do, thank you.


MR. PENNY:  All right.  So this is in the paragraph that seeks -- this is the relief sought.  What we're seeking is the establishment of a tax loss variance account.

"This variance account would record any variance between the tax loss mitigation amount, which underpins the draft rate order for the test period, and the tax loss amount resulting from the reanalysis of the prior period tax returns based on the OEB's directions in the decision as to the recalculation of those tax losses.  Disposition of the balance in this account would be addressed as part of OPG's next payment amounts application."


That, in my submission, could not be clearer, as to what it is that OPG was seeking.


Now, that language, the same concept was preserved in the subsequent notice of motion in slightly different words.  If you would also look paragraph 18 of our original argument, which parties had on January 28 -- I was looking at the reply, I'm sorry.


In paragraph 18, we say, again:

"The principal remedies OPG sought in the motion to vary..."


So we're describing what we were seeking before, but this is on the -- on January 28th.


MR. WETSTON:  I don't have that reference.


MR. PENNY:  I'm sorry.


MR. WETSTON:  Where is it in your materials?


MR. PENNY:  I'm sorry.  I am talking about our written argument.


MR. WETSTON:  Yes.


MR. PENNY:  Do you not have that?


MR. WETSTON:  Well, I have a bunch of arguments.  Is it the first one?  Is it in the compendium?


MR. PENNY:  No.  Yes.  It is not in our compendium.  I did not reproduce our arguments in the compendium.  I'm sorry if that is --


MS. NOWINA:  I am embarrassed to say, Mr. Penny, we have your reply, but not the original argument with us.


MR. WETSTON:  Go ahead.


MR. PENNY:  I can pass one up to you if you want to look at it?


MR. WETSTON:  It's okay.  Just read slowly.


MS. NOWINA:  If you have an extra copy, I wouldn't mind having one on the dais.  I don't want to take yours, Mr. Penny, because we need you to be able to refer to it.


MR. PENNY:  I am sure we have several extra copies.  Take two.  Thanks very much.


MR. WETSTON:  Does counsel have a copy?  Do you have it?  Thank you.  Everybody well prepared with this part?  Okay, thank you.  Go ahead, sir.  I will look at it with Ms. Nowina.


MR. PENNY:  I was referring to --


MS. NOWINA:  Paragraph?


MR. PENNY:  We have a second copy for Mr. Wetston.


MR. WETSTON:  Thank you.


MR. PENNY:  We can get it back and use it for something else.


MR. WETSTON:  Thank you for this.


MR. PENNY:  I was referring to page 5, Mr. Chairman, paragraph 18.


I am referring specifically to subparagraph 3, so we're describing the remedies that were sought.  So this is again in -- chronologically, this is our argument in-chief in this motion.  We are describing what we were seeking.  We say in subparagraph 3:

"An order establishing a tax loss variance account to record the difference between the revenue requirement reduction of $342 million embedded in the test period payment amounts and the regulatory tax loss amount that results from the analysis of prior period tax returns which the OEB ordered to be filed in OPG's next case."


Again, in my submission, couldn't be clearer that what we were asking for was a deferral account to true up the amount embedded in the test period payment amounts, which the Board had said was not properly calculated, and the ultimate true-up, which the Board -- or the ultimate analysis that the Board ordered be done before -- or in time for the next case.


MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Penny, to be fair, OPG assumes that this amount will be -- will result in a positive balance at the end to be recovered from --


MR. PENNY:  We are not assuming anything, Ms. Nowina.  I mean, we did indicate -- I mean, it was clear on the record, from the very beginning, that the -- a big piece of the tax losses that made up that $990 million were associated with nuclear waste liability payments that had to be made in respect of the Bruce lease.  So -- and the Bruce generating assets.


So it was clear on the record that if the tax losses associated with the Bruce come out of the calculation of tax losses that are attributable back to customers, that that would have a significant impact.


But that's one of many possible issues.  So our preliminary indication is that that is going to involve a payment back to OPG, but there is no assumption about that.  That will be -- parties will be fully entitled, at the time of the disposition of this account, to challenge the methodology, to challenge the assumptions underpinning the calculations, and, indeed, to challenge the calculations themselves.


And if there were a principled basis, consistent with the Board's decision, that produced positive amounts - in other words credits to customers - then that would be the outcome.  That is not what we think is going to happen, but that's not being prejudged in any way, shape or form at this point.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.


MR. PENNY:  So we're saying, in effect, that consumers can't have it both ways.


Either the revenue requirement reduction is rooted in tax losses, or it is not.  If it's not, then we say there's no basis for the reduction at all.  That's the third argument.  But if it is, then only those taxes properly attributable to the prescribed assets can be available for that purpose.


Now, I have touched on this already, to some extent, but Mr. Thompson's most recent submission on behalf of the CME sent on April 1 took issue with that.  He raised four complaints about this argument of inconsistency and the truing up.


He, first of all, expressed some surprise that the Board-ordered adjustment is somehow an issue, and I have said there is no basis for that surprise.


He said that -- I will come back to these.  He said that the submission -- sorry.  That all OPG has ever put in issue was the double jeopardy issue.  That, in our submission, is not correct.  If he thought that, it is because he didn't read our material.


Mr. Thompson says that OPG is seeking to take advantage, somehow take advantage, of the very findings it's also claiming are improper, and that is just not so.  I think that should be apparent from what I have been discussing to date.


Finally, he says that findings on tax losses made without evidence or beyond the jurisdiction of the Board should be substituted with findings on tax losses that are consistent with the uncontradicted evidence at the hearing, but then he says:

"...without prejudice to the rights of any party in a future proceeding to question the methodology used to determine the amount of OPG's prior period tax losses allocatable to consumers."


Well, I will come back to this, but we agree 100 percent with that.  So this may be a case of parties being in violent agreement, but, in our submission, that is exactly what we're seeking on this motion, is that the findings be consistent with the evidence, that there be a variance account without prejudice to the rights of any party in a future proceeding to question the methodology that is used to determine the amount of OPG's prior period tax losses that are applicable to consumers.


MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Penny, other than in your reply submission, was it clear in your other submissions or materials that the decisions, for example, about the Bruce nuclear station -- the decisions in the case would significantly change the calculated amount of tax losses?


MR. PENNY:  Yes.  In my submission, it was clear in the original case.  The evidence was that the nuclear liability amounts -- it arose because the Bruce -- because of the refurbishment at Bruce stations.  Bruce stations were going to last longer; therefore, the nuclear -- the cost of nuclear waste management went way up.


And those costs have to be funded on an ongoing basis under an arrangement with the Province of Ontario.


MS. NOWINA:  Yes.


MR. PENNY:  So there was a big bump in those costs, and those contributed significantly, made up more than half, is the evidence, of the tax losses that were incurred in that prior period, the 2005 to 2007 period.


MS. NOWINA:  I understand that now.


MR. PENNY:  They weren't quantified, but we said, for example, in the evidence at F3, tab 2, schedule 1 --


MS. NOWINA:  I'm sorry Mr. Penny, you are really taking me down a path you don't need to take me.  My question wasn't whether it was in the evidence or how it was in the case.


My question was:  In your motion materials and in your earlier submissions on the motions, was it clear that that was one of the issues here, that $342 million was not the right number, given the other decisions -- the other findings in the decision?


It was very clear in your final submission, but it wasn't -- I was alerted to it by your final submissions.


MR. PENNY:  Yes.  Yes.  If you're asking me whether it was as clear in the earlier submission as it was in the reply submission, I would agree with you it wasn't as explicit.  But I say "explicit", and the reason I say "explicit" is because you can't read the relief that we were seeking, even in the original notice of motion, as being anything other than a request for a true-up between what was embedded in rates and what comes out of the ultimate recalculation.


MR. WETSTON:  Is there some such thing as a true-down?


MR. PENNY:  There absolutely is.


MR. WETSTON:  I rarely ever hear that, but there may come a day, Mr. Penny.


MR. PENNY:  There may come a day.


MR. WETSTON:  I think the only point I think -- I am not sure if you are satisfied -- but is the lack of -- if there was any lack of explicit clarity around that point in the first submission.  You're saying it was there, but reflected more through the request for relief, and it might have been for the explicit request for a true-up or the acknowledgement of that?


MR. PENNY:  Frankly, one of our -- I'll use the colloquialism.  One of our beefs about the first review panel was we didn't get a hearing.


MR. WETSTON:  You didn't have an oral hearing.


MR. PENNY:  We didn't have the opportunity to get into any of these things.  It didn't seem to us necessary to get to that level of detail in the initial go around, because in is an issue that really flows from -- it flows from our main point; that is, that there is a factual connection, and all of the evidence supported that connection between the calculation of the regulatory tax losses and the revenue requirement reduction.


MR. WETSTON:  Mr. Penny, lawyers are often better orators than authors.


MR. PENNY:  It is not until you get down into a further level of detail that some of these other streams, if you will, get picked up.


MS. NOWINA:  Yes.  I'm not certain what turns on it.  In any case, Mr. Penny, if it is clear at this point -- but I found the reply submission helpful in clarifying these points that I at least did not grasp earlier.


MR. PENNY:  Let me just say, before tuning in a little more detail to my rebuttal to Mr. Thompson, that, in my submission, nothing does turn on it.  I mean, it will be what it will be.  As I said a couple of times already, there is nothing in this motion that decides what the outcome of those calculations will, and whether it is a debit or a credit or anything.


MR. WETSTON:  Let me ask you an important question.  You have been going for an hour and a half now.  Do you feel it is time for a break?  The court reporter -- probably Teresa would feel it is about time.  How much longer would you have, sir?


MR. PENNY:  Probably a half hour.


MR. WETSTON:  Why don't we take a bit of time and you can have a breather, have some water, and we will come back in -- I don't think we need a long break.  Is 15 minutes -- I am really not -- I'm less concerned about you, sir, than I am about Teresa.


MR. PENNY:  That's as it should be, Mr. Chair.


MR. WETSTON:  As it should be.  Fifteen, 20 minutes okay? Thank you very much.  This is the first time that's ever been quoted to me.  So we will take a 15- to 20-minute break.  Thank you.


--- Recess taken at 10:55 a.m.


--- Upon resuming at 11:22 a.m.


MR. WETSTON:  Please be seated.


Mr. Penny.


MR. PENNY:  Thank you.  I was in the process of responding to the suggestion in Mr. Thompson's most recent submission that he was surprised at the prospect of a true-up of the test period revenue requirement reduction, and I had taken you to the original motion and paragraph 18 of our original submission.


I also wanted to take you to paragraph 53 of our original submissions.  So, again, this is January 28th at the outset of this process.


In paragraph 53, we are addressing the remedy, again, and we say, as you will see:

"In OPG's submission, once the OEB decided that it was not satisfied there was any regulatory tax losses or that they had not been correctly calculated or that there was not sufficient evidence to determine the amount of those regulatory tax losses, the proper response was not to require OPG to proceed to reduce its revenue requirement by approximately $342 million, in any event; rather, the only proper and lawful course open to the OEB, in the face of those findings, involved one of two choices.  One, remove the mitigation proposal from any calculation of the revenue requirement for the test period and remit the matter for further consideration to a future panel; or, two, establish a variance account to record the revenue requirement reduction of $342 million embedded in the test period payment and consider the disposition of that amount in the context of any regulatory tax loss calculations resulting from an analysis of prior period tax returns in OPG's next case."


Again, in my submission, it clearly contemplates the adjustment of the $342 million in connection with the review that the Board ordered to be done on better evidence of the prior period tax returns.


Perhaps the best evidence, though, in my submission, that the variance account request to enable the truing up of that number should come as no surprise to Mr. Thompson is from his own argument in this case.


If you have that, Mr. Thompson submitted an argument of three pages.  This is before his letter.  I have forgotten the date exactly, but it was the submission of the Canadian Manufacturers & Exporters re OPG's motion to vary.


If you would look at page 2, paragraph 4, sub (c) -- do you have that, Mr. Chairman?


MR. WETSTON:  I do.


MR. PENNY:  At paragraph 4(c), Mr. Thompson says:

"The addition of a $352 million tracking account to the payment amounts decision which OPG requests by way of a review decision and order is both inappropriate and unnecessary, because number 1, any issues which arise in a future proceeding pertaining to the extent to which the prior period tax losses allocated to ratepayers is determined to be materially greater or less than the $342 million will be determined in those proceedings; and, two, all parties rights with respect to the regulatory treatment of any material difference are preserved and unaffected by the payment amounts decision."


So there, again, it seems the parties are, except perhaps on a technical point, in violent agreement.  Mr. Thompson has clearly contemplated greater or less than $342 million to be determined in the future, and we're only saying, as a technical issue, that the mechanism by which that has to be done should be through the variance account, because, if it is not, then there is an issue about retroactivity, in the more technical sense of the word that you and I were discussing earlier.  That is:  Can the Board -- without a variance account, can the Board reach back into the test period and change the payment amounts that were established by a final order?


We're simply saying that we don't -- we agree with what Mr. Thompson is saying there.  We're simply saying we don't think that the mechanism he is describing is the proper mechanism to do that, that it has the flaw of falling subject to retroactivity, because you can't just leave it to be done in the ordinary course.  A final order can't be revisited.


That's why we say there has to be a variance account.


Mr. Thompson himself has acceded to the principle that the tax loss is properly attributable to consumers as an offset to the test period revenue requirement will be determined in a future proceeding.


My written reply addresses the retroactivity point, so I won't spend -- we of course rely on our written argument.  I am just trying to deal with the core issues here, but I won't spend more time going through that.


In my submission, then, the record simply doesn't permit that the inclusion or any support for the suggestion that the test period revenue requirement reduction should be trued up to the tax loss recalculation being done in accordance with the Board's direction came as any surprise to anyone.


Now, Mr. Thompson has also said, well, he thought this was all about the possibility of double dipping.  I have to say to that, simply, that the whole point of our second motion and the whole point of our written submission that accompanied that motion was to say that the initial review panel didn't deal with anything but that issue, but that we had other issues that were equally significant that needed to be addressed, and it was on that basis that we asked the Board to convene this motion.


So on that point, it seems to me you can't fairly read our second motion or the argument that was submitted in that second motion as providing -- as being at all consistent with the suggestion that it was all about double jeopardy.  We clearly said this is about more than double jeopardy.


Now, Mr. Thompson's third argument is that OPG, in asking for this variance account to reflect the further analysis that's been done on what tax losses are properly attributable to consumers is taking advantage of the very findings that it seeks to set aside.


In my submission, nothing could be further from the truth.


What OPG has challenged is the finding that the revenue requirement reduction proposed for the test year had nothing to do with tax losses.  OPG has never challenged the OEB's finding that, based on well-established regulatory principle, the tax losses should be calculated on a stand-alone basis, or that the benefit of those tax losses should be allocated on the principle that benefit follows costs.


Indeed, that is what OPG thought it was doing.


The only divergence between OPG's proposal and the OEB's decision on that point was not one of principle, but one of application to the facts.


Again, OPG is not challenging the Board's finding that tax losses associated with Bruce assets or operating losses should not accrue to the benefit of customers.


So there is no inconsistency in OPG's position, in my submission.  We are not relying on the very findings that we seek to attack.


Finally, Mr. Thompson's letter -- this is coming back to the violent agreement point.  Mr. Thompson's letter on his final point on the substance, if you have that, this is the April 1, 2009 letter, and the penultimate paragraph, the one that starts:

"In the context of the materially changed nature of OPG's motion..."


Which I utterly reject, he says in the middle of that paragraph:

"The reviewing tribunal should reverse the ultra vires findings and substitute those with respect to tax losses and mitigation which are compatible with the uncontradicted evidence that was adduced at the hearing, without prejudice to the rights of any party in a future proceeding to question the methodology to be used to determine the amount of OPG's prior period tax losses allocable to ratepayers."


That, in my submission, is exactly what we are asking for in this motion.  So I see no difference, whatsoever, between what Mr. Thompson is asking for and what we are asking for when you look at that sentence.  It is hard to understand what all the fuss is about, with great respect.


OPG will, in due course, come forward with its calculations, in accordance with the Board's decision on how to do that.  All parties will be at liberty to challenge those calculations, be it methodology, arithmetic or otherwise, as I've said.  All OPG is seeking at this stage is the variance account to enable that consideration to be made, once the analysis is done and subject to a full and open review.


It is, as Mr. Thompson wishes, without prejudice to the rights of any party in a future proceeding to challenge how the Board's directions have been applied.


Now, I will quickly get to the end of my submission on this.  I just wanted to respond to an argument made by the School Energy Coalition in their written argument that the -- which, in effect -- the argument that OPG brought this problem on itself by filing what he calls inadequate evidence and failing to ask for a variance account in the first place.


With great respect, this is addressed in our reply at page 5, paragraphs 24 to 34, so I won't go through it again in detail, but let me touch on the highlights.


The Board never found that OPG's evidence was inadequate.  You do not find those words in the decision.


What the Board said was that there was not sufficient evidence, given the adjustments that it wanted to be made to the calculation of tax losses, for the Board to determine on its own what the right amount was.


So, in other words, we didn't know, until the decision came out, that the Board wanted the Bruce stuff out.  We didn't know, until the decision came out, that the Board wanted the 2007 operating losses out.


So of course there was no evidence on what those calculations were, because the matter was never raised.  And when the Board says that it didn't have sufficient evidence to make those calculations, of course it is referring to the fact that the issue -- there wasn't evidence, because the issue wasn't raised.


It cannot, in my submission, be construed, in any fair reading of the Board's decision, as a finding that OPG was at fault.  It simply reflects the fact that the Board, by the time it issued the decision, which was of course long after the hearing, came to the view that the tax losses should be calculated perhaps differently than OPG had done.


Our complaint is simply that in the face of this, the Board ought not to have got round this issue by trying to delink the reduction from the tax losses altogether, but, rather, simply created a variance account to record the difference in approaches for further review in a future proceeding


MR. WETSTON:  Help me with this a bit, Mr. Penny.  You're saying in all of the filings of the evidence before the Board, all of the prehearing filings, all of the interrogatories, all of the responses to the interrogatories, in the prefiled evidence of OPG, any of the evidence filed by the intervenors, this issue didn't come up?


There was no evidence of this or no one put any evidence in as to this issue.  So what you're saying is, Well, it wasn't raised, so therefore there was no evidence.  Help me with that issue.


MR. PENNY:  I am saying I guess -- well, there are two aspects to that, Mr. Chairman.  In terms of never raised, that really goes to our natural justice issue.


MR. WETSTON:  I understand that.


MR. PENNY:  But in terms of the evidence, I think it would be -- all I'm saying is, And it would fair to say that if what you wanted to do was remove the amount of tax losses that were part of that $990 million total that were attributable to the Bruce assets, that detail was not available.  That's what I'm saying.


We've referenced -- there was plenty of reference to the fact that it was being done, why it was being done, what the numbers were, some break down of the numbers.  There's an annual breakdown.  Mr. Shepherd says there wasn't an annual breakdown.


In fact, there was an annual breakdown.  We have referred to that in our reply.


So there was plenty of evidence, but it was at a bigger picture level, if you will.  What I'm saying is that no one ever said, Well, break it down by specifically -- sorry, it was also in the evidence as to what the sources of these tax losses were.  I took you to that.  But it was, again, dealt with at a fairly big-picture level.


No one ever said, Let's see how much is attributable to the Bruce.  Break it down by -- you know, down to the minute detail by what source was attributable to which, because -- and the reason it wasn't done in the first place, of course, is, from OPG's perspective, there was no need for that, because we looked at it as all being attributable to the customers.


But that was on a basis -- for example, on the Bruce lease side, that was on a basis that we were including the Bruce assets as if they were regulated assets, and, therefore, recovering the costs from customers in that way, but the Board said, Don't do it that way.  So that cost us about $60 million, by the way, of that.  We don't take issue with that.  That is what the Board found, so...


Well, that's really it, I think, on that issue.  As we said in the reply -- just I guess to tie up the final point here, as we said in our original argument, this issue didn't attract necessarily a lot of attention.  The intervenors supported it.  School Energy Coalition supported the proposal.


You can see that in -- well, the Board says so, first of all, in its decision.  I read that.  You can also see it in SEC's argument from that proceeding, which is reproduced in the supplementary compendium at page 5.  I won't take you to it.


But my closing point is that it hardly, in my submission, lies in the mouth of SEC now, with the benefit of hindsight, to accuse OPG of filing inadequate evidence or failing to ask for a deferral account, when it was not on the record before us and on -- in terms of our proposal, necessary to do so.


So those are my submissions on the second issue.


As I indicated earlier, the submissions on why we say the threshold is met, i.e., that there is an error which raises a substantial question as to the correctness of the decision, are really the same as the submissions on the merits, i.e., why the Board, in fact, should actually vary the decision.


So I am not going to, of course, go through those again.


The same is true on my third submission, which is outlined at 39 -- paragraphs 39 to 49 of our initial written submission.  In other words, by saying the same is true, I mean that the same arguments that we say that we rely on to deal with the substantial question as to correctness issue are the same arguments that we rely on on the merits as to why the Board should vary the decision.


The third issue, Mr. Chairman, is the one that you and I discussed briefly earlier on the question of jurisdiction.


I hear you on that, so we've gotten a fairly thorough analysis of the point in our written submissions.  I therefore won't walk through them in any detail.  Let me just highlight a couple of points.


MR. WETSTON:  Thank you.


MR. PENNY:  First of all, just to be clear, the alternative submission, which is alternative to my submissions on the evidence, is that having made the finding that the revenue requirement reduction of $342 million had no connection to regulatory tax losses, and in the absence of any other legitimate basis to impose that reduction, of which we say there is none, in our submission the Board lost any jurisdiction to impose the reduction at all.


We say that, because the way this shook out was that - we deal with this at paragraph, I think, 7 of our original argument - that the decision -- throughout the decision, the Board made a series of findings approving, as just and reasonable, the recovery of OPG's costs.


So they went through the issues list.  They said, All right, OM&A.  Well, OM&A they approved, cost of capital, et cetera.  I mean, they went through all of those things.


In some cases, in some cases, the Board accepted OPG's evidence as filed, for example, the production forecast.  In other cases, they found, having regard to the principles of rate making, that the amounts were too much, and reduced them.  That would be, for example, the case of nuclear OM&A, or the cost of equity.


In all cases, however, as we say, the Board found that the costs were recoverable as just and reasonable because of one of three things.  Either they were required by the regulations, they represented a reasonable forecast as to anticipated test period costs, or, in the case of the cost of equity, that what they allowed, a 47 percent equity structure and an 8.65 return, met the fair return standard.


So having made all of those findings on all of OPG's forecast costs and production, it was then that the OEB turned to this issue in paragraph 9 of the design and determination of payment amounts.


As we've seen, of course, the Board found that there was no connection between the tax losses and the reduction.  and so we say, Well, then if there is no -- I will cut to the chase, and then move on.  If there is no legitimate basis for the reduction, then it is arbitrary.


The law that I have cited -- and I should say that we put as table 1 to our initial argument a calculation.  Nothing turns on the numbers.  It is illustrative only, but it shows how, if you take $342 million away from the revenue requirement, what you get is a 4.1 percent return.


As I say, this is illustrative only.  We are not claiming this as the be all and end all.  But the conception was to show that if -- all this shows, Mr. Chairman, is if you take away $342 million from the revenue requirement, what you get is at line 15, a 4.1 percent return.


What was allowed was an 8.65 return.  So that is the impact that this reduction has if it is not based on some legitimate principle.


Now, we are saying, as you know, in our first argument it was based on a legitimate principle.  It was based on an entitlement of the consumer to these regulatory tax losses.  If it's done that way, we have no problem with it.  The problem is in the delinking from the regulatory tax losses, which we say causes the reduction to lose its legitimacy.


So that is really all I will say about the ROE and --


MR. WETSTON:  The table is kind of like a little bit of an intimidation argument, is the way I see it.


MR. PENNY:  No.  It is just a way -- it is just showing the effect.


MR. WETSTON:  It sounds intimidating from 8.67 to 4. -


MR. PENNY:  Maybe, 342 sounds intimidating, too.  It depends who you are.


MR. WETSTON:  I understand your argument.  I fully -- I grasp the point of your argument.


MR. PENNY:  I just want to -- I always say -- I won't read it now.  You can read it at your leisure, as if you spend your leisure time thinking about these things, so I won't say that.  But the case we have cited, the Hemlock Valley case, is very apposite to the circumstances of that case, if you found yourselves in the alternative situation that's addressed in that argument.  And we say it would be applicable here.


So then let me conclude by just turning to remedy.


Bottom line, in the alternative, we are seeking a variance of the Board's conclusion that there is no link between the revenue requirement reduction and its calculation of regulatory tax losses.  We are doing this on the basis that this conclusion of the Board's was unsupported by, and indeed contradicted by, the evidence.  We say, therefore, that that conclusion was wrong in law.


In the alternative, we are asking the Board to find that if, in fact, there is no link between regulatory tax losses and the $342 million reduction, what other legitimate basis is there for it; and, in the absence of one, that the Board lacked legal basis to order the reduction.


We say -- I have read 53 -- paragraph 53 to you before.  That sets out our argument on the need for the variance account and how it would work.


Let me just conclude by saying, to be clear, again, to emphasize, that the first and second argument are indeed in the alternative.  If there was no basis for the finding which delinked, then there was no -- then that finding should be set aside.  There was a linkage between regulatory tax losses and the reduction -- and a deferral account or variance account, excuse me, should be established to track the difference in accordance with the Board's directions.


The second argument is completely in the alternative.  If there is no connection, then there was no legitimate basis.


So for those reasons, we ask that the relief sought be granted in the primary sense of the word.  In other words, we ask that you make a finding that there was no support in the evidence for the delinking of the reduction in the tax losses, and establish the variance account in the terms that we have articulated in our material.


Thank you.


MR. WETSTON:  Thank you, Mr. Penny.  Do you have any other questions?


MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Penny, just to get it clear in the transcript, the two alternatives, the first one is the variance of the decision to delink.  So, in other words, relink again the 342 million to the tax losses?


MR. PENNY:  Yes.  Effectively set aside the finding that there was no relevant connection between the two, yes.


MS. NOWINA:  And establish a variance account?


MR. PENNY:  The second piece is:  And establish the variance account.


MS. NOWINA:  The second alternative is essentially to determine that the $342 million should not have been to the benefit of ratepayers?


MR. PENNY:  That's correct.


MS. NOWINA:  And create a deferral account for a future recovery of those amounts?


MR. PENNY:  Yes.  Just as a practical matter.  We are not asking the current payment amounts be changed.  It is just too complicated.  But if you found in our favour on the second argument, in the alternative argument, what we're saying is there was no basis for it at all.  It should all return to OPG, and we are simply asking for a deferral account that would enable that to be done at a future time.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.


MR. WETSTON:  Okay, I think that concludes your argument, Mr. Penny.


MR. PENNY:  It does, Mr. Chairman.


MR. WETSTON:  Thank you very much for that.  I think maybe Mr. Stephenson would go next, because I think you might be in agreement, as opposed to violent agreement, with Mr. Penny, in doing your argument.


MR. STEPHENSON:  I abhor violence of all kinds.


MR. WETSTON:  I think we agree with you on that point.  You can move right on to the other.  Go ahead, sir.

Submissions by Mr. Stephenson:


MR. STEPHENSON:  Thank you, Mr. Chairman.  I will be brief, because I do support OPG's position on this matter and the submissions made by Mr. Penny.


I really want to speak to three points.  Point number 1, I do want to spend a moment just to describe what I submit the natural justice problem was in the original decision.


Secondly, I want to spend a moment on why that is an appropriate "threshold" issue; in other words, an issue which, if the Board is satisfied there is, in fact, a natural justice problem here, that that should be a matter which discharges the threshold and permits the Board to proceed to an examination of the merits of the dispute with the original decision.


Thirdly, I just wanted to speak to why the natural justice issue actually had an impact in terms of how this case evolved, and how it could have evolved if natural justice had, in fact, been observed in the circumstances.


I have filed a written submission on the case, and in that written submission, as usual, really the only point of filing the written submission is to put in this very long quote from a case from the BC Supreme Court called Amacon Property Management Services.


I include that not because, of course, you are bound by the decision of the British Columbia Supreme Court in that particular case, but, rather, because, in my submission, it is an accurate statement of the law as it pertains to the circumstances here.


To be clear, in that case they were dealing with a circumstance which I believe involved -- it was an arbitrator in that case.  The proposition that I am making is applicable to proceedings before judicial decision-makers.  It is also applicable in the context of decisions made by administrative decision-makers.


And, in fact, you will see within the quote, of course, there is the BC Superior Court relies upon the decision of the well-known decision of the Supreme Court of Canada in the Consolidated-Bathurst case, which I think everybody knows fairly well, a decision which arose from a decision from the Ontario Labour Relations Board.


It also refers to a series of decisions from the Nova Scotia Court of Appeal, all of which deal with administrative decision-makers in that case.  I believe in one case it was a Workers Comp tribunal.  In another case, I believe it was the equivalent of the OMB in Nova Scotia.


But the proposition is a fairly straightforward one, and that simply is that for a decision-maker to decide an issue on a basis which was never raised not just in the oral proceeding, but whether it is in the application itself, whether it is in any aspects of the manner in which the proceeding took place, essentially it is a basis that was not, shall we say colloquially, on the radar screen of anybody that participated in the proceeding while the proceeding was actually under way, and that it arises, in effect, for the first time in the decision of the tribunal itself.


In my written submissions at page, quoting from the case, there is an excerpt from a House of Lords' decision at paragraph 32 which I think is of some value, and what it says is:

"Lord Justice remarked that it is contrary to natural justice that the contentions of a party in a judicial proceeding may be overruled by considerations in the judicial mind which the party had no opportunity of criticizing or contraverting, because he or she does not know what they are.

"Moreover, the judge may, without the inestimable benefit of critical argument, arrive at a wrong conclusion on the undisclosed material.  Even worse the undisclosed evidence, if subjected to criticism, may prove to be misconceived or based on false premises."


That particular version of the natural justice flaw is a situation where the decision is premised on evidence that was not disclosed during the course of the hearing, but it applies equally when it is based on theories that are -- or approaches or legal applications that are not disclosed during the course of the hearing.


As I indicate, the court relies upon the case -- the decision of the Supreme Court of Canada in the well-known Consolidated Bathurst case.  In paragraph 36, the court concludes by applying the principles to the particular case, and you will see that what happened in that case, the underlying case, the Amacon case, was the arbitrator applied the principles of negligence to the underlying -- the resolution of the dispute that was before him.


This was a theory, a legal theory, or a way of looking at resolving a dispute which was never raised by anyone.


The court concludes that that is inappropriate and that gives rise to a natural justice failure.


MR. WETSTON:  Mr. Stephenson, you see you have quoted all of these cases and they're all different than the case before the OEB.  Where the OEB is a specialized economic regulator that has oversight, ongoing oversight, and is expected to have expertise with respect to these matters as part of its ongoing oversight, and it is a matter of ongoing oversight of the payments for OPG, I don't take issue with the cases that you are raising, but they all have different facts underpinning those findings, leading to this broad principle that you suggest that there's been an error in natural justice because...


I can see what you are referring to.  None of us here would deny that natural justice can be breached in some circumstances.  I am still having some difficulty relating these cases to what we have done here.


MR. STEPHENSON:  I will come back.


MR. WETSTON:  There is a bit leap here.  Let's get to the point.


MR. STEPHENSON:  The leap that occurs here is simply the logical step that occurs in every argument, but let me just, before I get to the application of the principle to the facts, deal with your point about, Well, of course the Energy Board is a specialized tribunal.  But the point is, of course, these principles, principles of natural justice, are precisely that.  They are principles.


The Labour Relations Board, of course, is also a specialized review board, specialized within its own ambit.  Workers Compensation tribunals, of course, are specialized tribunals, specialized within their own ambit.


Municipal boards are specialized within their own ambit, and these principles are of course applicable in each of those cases, arising on each of those -- the facts of each of those cases, and of course you must demonstrate how the principle has been breached in the circumstances of the case.


But there is nothing unique obviously about this tribunal, in terms of its obligation to observe the principles.


The question is on the facts:  Has it observed them?


So, in my submission, the point is -- or the step that demonstrates that the principles have not been observed has in fact been established, I hope, by Mr. Penny's submissions, because, of course, what he's established, I think, quite definitively for you, is that this issue about the fact that this was mitigation simpliciter and not in any way linked to the regulatory tax loss issues, of course there was no evidence about the absence of a linkage and no submissions by anybody about an absence of linkage, and no discussion by anybody about the absence of linkage.


This was a -- it appears for the first time in the case, in the decision.  And, of course, the issue -- the natural justice failure is best demonstrated by how the natural justice failure could have been avoided.


I want to be very clear.  Of course I am not attributing that there is any, you know, bad motive on the part of anybody, not the least of which being the Board in this case.  In my submission, everybody is trying to do their best here.  I think there is just a problem that arose.


MR. WETSTON:  It's not the most straightforward of matters, either for OPG or the Board, I must say.  We all understand that.


MR. STEPHENSON:  I am not casting aspersions on anyone.  I hope that is clear.


MR. WETSTON:  Nobody suggested that.


MR. STEPHENSON:  In a perfect world, what would have occurred, of course, is that during the course of the hearing somebody had said, Well, it is all very well and good, OPG, for you to say that these things are linked and that, you know, there's -- that you are claiming the Bruce assets as part of your costs and part of the -- that there is an issue about the tax losses associated with them.  But what if we don't accept that proposition, and what do you say are the consequences if we do not accept that proposition?


Then, of course, there may well have been an opportunity to make submissions to the tribunal, to say, Well, for the following six reasons, as a matter of law, here is why you should accept our proposition, and, by the way, I am going to ask my witness the following ten questions, which will provide further evidentiary foundation in support of that proposition and tell you why, as a matter of evidence, the opposite conclusion is not possible.


The natural justice issue arises in a second way, of course.  It arises -- and this is actually -- I am now at my third point.  I skipped over the second one.  I am now at my third point, which is the manifestation.


So there would have been the opportunity for submissions by my client, by OPG, presumably whomever.  Everybody that was in support of this treatment could have made submissions and adduced additional evidence in order to satisfy the decision-maker regarding that issue.


However, there was a second issue about which there was an opportunity, a failure of an opportunity to provide submissions, and that's on the mitigation point.


And this speaks to, I think, the last point that my friend Mr. Penny raised, which is, at the end of the day, of course it is obvious what the Board was concerned about.  The Board was concerned about rate impact, and that's why they said, as mitigation, this $340 million has to be recognized.


Of course, the Board's concern about rate impact is an entirely legitimate one.  It is an entirely appropriate concern in every case.


It may well be the Board is right that this was a case where rate impact was of -- the concern about rate impact was of sufficient magnitude that something had to be done to mitigate that.


In those circumstances parties, including OPG and others, may well have said to you something like the following -- maybe adduced evidence and it may have made submissions about this, but of course there is a perfectly appropriate, well-recognized manner in which mitigation for rate impact can be undertaken without depriving the utility of their ability to earn their fair return.


Of course that is through something the Board does all the time, which is through phase-in, whereby there is in fact a deferral account.  We are going to defer the amount that gets recognized for the purposes of rate-making over time, and we are going to phase that in over two, three, four years, whatever that is, but there will be this deferral account that earns interest.  And the utility has the opportunity to be made whole over time.


In year 1, there will be an under-recovery.  In year two, there may be under-recovery, but, over time, they will be made whole.  Of course, the issue of mitigation can be appropriately and legitimately addressed, but of course nobody had the opportunity to make those submissions, because that issue about, We're simply going to impose mitigation, was never an issue in the hearing.


So that, in my submission, is the leap, Mr. Chair.  It is, in my submission, not a leap at all.  It is in fact well demonstrated in the evidence, and it's clear on the facts, and the point being that the failure here actually made a difference; that the very error which I think Mr. Penny has demonstrated, I think convincingly - and I support those submissions - could easily have been avoided simply by virtue of the opportunity to have addressed that in a timely way.


Now, the last point I want to make, it was my second point, but the last point I do want to make is on the issue of, Well, is this --assuming that I am right about this, that it is a natural justice failure for the way that this case evolved, is that appropriately a threshold issue which, if you are satisfied the error did occur, is something which could cause you to revisit the merits?


In my submission, it is, for at least two reasons.


Number one, as the Board has recognized, the rule -- the list of things in your practice direction or in the Board rules is not exhaustive.  In my submission, this is precisely the kind of thing that the Board should, in a proper case where it is satisfied that the error has occurred, want to reopen a case in order to fix it up, for at least two reasons.


Number one, it maintains the Board is the master of its own house.  The Board should be concerned about ensuring that there is fairness in terms of its proceedings, and that there is an appearance of fairness in its proceedings, and that's important to the stakeholders and to the public and so forth, to all of the constituents.


So, in my submission, the Board, if it is satisfied that that kind of error has occurred, should be the first one that wants to get in and fix it up.


The second thing is - and this is, in part, a response to a submission I understand that my friend, Mr. Shepherd, raises - which is, Well, you should go off to court and deal with this.


I don't deny that an error of natural justice is the kind of thing that you could go to court on.  But, in my submission, these are not watertight compartments, and, in my submission, this is the kind of thing that the Board should prefer that it deal with.  Number one -- of course, the obvious point is, of course, if you go off to court and you satisfy the court that there has been an error of natural of justice, what they will do, of course, is they don't decide the case.  They send it back to you, anyway.


So to use an old expression, why don't we just cut out the middleman and deal with it now, if you are actually concerned there was this kind of a problem?


Secondly, as a matter of policy, in terms of where these kinds of errors should be dealt with, the problem of going off to court is, of course, that the court's remedy is to quash the decision in whole or in part.


That doesn't leave either the Board -- assuming it is satisfied that the error has been made out, and that doesn't leave either the Board nor the constituents well situated to deal with what is, you know, an ongoing issue for the parties before you.


In other words, the solution about going off to court is the broad sword.  The Board, this kinds of a review panel, is the scalpel; that it has the expertise and it can address and redress the problem, to the extent it finds one, in a very tailored fashion, and come up with a result that actually works on the ground for all of the constituent parties in an application of its specialized expertise.


So I say that, number one, it does pass the threshold, for the reasons I have said.  Number two, as a matter of policy, this is a better place for it to go in first instance, because there's all sorts of good policy reasons why this Board can come up with a better result in a more timely fashion that works better for everybody involved.


So that's all I was intending to say.  I do support, obviously -- when you get on to the merits in my submission, I support the submissions that my friend Mr. Penny has made, and it leads, in my submission, to the relief that he is seeking in the case.  Thank you.  Subject to any questions, those are my submissions.


MR. WETSTON:  Thank you, Mr. Stephenson.


I think that is fine.  We don't have any questions of you.  I appreciate your argument.  Who would like to go first?  Have you tossed a coin or have you sorted it out?


MR. SHEPHERD:  Seniority.


MR. WETSTON:  That's you, Mr. Shepherd.  That was a compliment, Mr. Thompson.


MR. SHEPHERD:  It was indeed.


MR. WETSTON:  I was going not by age, but by experience.


MR. THOMPSON:  Well, you are right on one score.


MR. WETSTON:  Go ahead, sir.

Submissions by Mr. Thompson:


MR. THOMPSON:  Thank you, Mr. Chairman.


For the purposes of my submissions, when I refer to the review decision, I am talking about the December 19, 2008 decision, and then the payment amounts decision is the November 3, 2008 decision.


I will review both of them with respect to errors in my submissions.


Let me begin by saying the obvious, that you cannot get to a review of the payments decision without finding that there's error in the review decision.


My submission, and with respect to errors, I submit that there's been no error demonstrated with respect to the review decision.  Turning, however, to the payments decision, my submission on there, with respect to error, is that there are errors in that decision.


There is the 'opportunity to be heard' issue.  I won't use the provocative phrase, 'the natural justice' issue.  But, more importantly, there is the issue with respect to findings being made wholly unsupported by the evidence or argument before the Board Panel.


As Mr. Penny has correctly observed, we agree an error was made there.  In terms of corrections to that error, there is a subtle, but important difference between the remedy that we're suggesting by way of correction.


My submission is, to correct for the unsupportable findings error, you make the findings that should have been made on the basis of the evidence and the argument, and that is that for the purposes of 2009 and 2010 payment amounts, the mitigation amount was linked to the calculation of regulatory tax losses by OPG.


As to the amount of that calculation, there was absolutely no evidence other than it was $342 million.  So my submission is that that is part of the corrective finding, that the amount for the purposes, again, of 2009 and 2010, is, on the evidence before the Board that heard the matter, $342 million.  There is no other evidence otherwise.


So under our corrective scenario, there is no carry forward into the next case of the question of whether there is additional credits or debits to be charged or paid back to ratepayers in respect of the 2009 and 2010 test years.


The entire issue with respect to what's the appropriate way of calculating these amounts will be brought forward to the next case, but it will not have any implications for the 2009 and 2010 recoveries from ratepayers or credits to ratepayers.


That is what I was trying to get at in subparagraph (c) of my submissions.


MR. WETSTON:  Those are your original submissions?


MR. THOMPSON:  That's my original submissions.  They were primarily directed to the review of the review decision, not the payments decision.


MR. WETSTON:  Right.


MR. THOMPSON:  What I said in sub (c) was the addition.  we viewed what OPG was seeking was really an addition, not a corrective measure, but an addition of $342 million tracking account, and we say that is inappropriate, in terms of the payments decision, and I say that is because they haven't demonstrated any error.  Then we go on to say it is unnecessary, because this issue of whether it is materially greater or less can be examined and determined in the next proceeding.


What I want to say, all parties' rights with respect to the regulatory treatment of any material difference are preserved, which means we could then say you can't take that back into 2009 and 2010.


So what I was trying to say is all rights are reserved for them, as well as us, on this question of taking it back to 2009 and 2010.


MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Thompson, how do we make that finding without overturning the parts of the decision which -- for example, the parts on the Bruce nuclear assets that specify a tax treatment?


MR. THOMPSON:  How do you make what finding, sorry?


MS. NOWINA:  How do we make the finding of the 342 stays in place for this period, without overturning the parts of the payment decision that say that the tax losses should be calculated differently?


MR. THOMPSON:  Well --


MS. NOWINA:  Are you suggesting we do have to overturn everything?


MR. THOMPSON:  I think you have to overturn everything that wasn't supported by the evidence.  That is implicit in my remarks.


The only evidence was, with respect to the amount, the 342, there was no dispute about that, no argument contrary.  But I say the 342 is part of the corrective action, and my friend Mr. Penny is saying, No, no, we want to park that in some fashion so we can bring it forward, and then have relief which would, in effect, be retroactive to 2009 or 2010, visited upon somebody.


So that's the distinction between the corrective action that I am suggesting with respect to the payments decision, and you get to the same point, I suggest, if you find no error in the review decision, because that simply leads to a dismissal of this motion.  These directives carry forward, and they report, and everybody's left with their rights concerning retroactivity, and that sort of thing, preserved and unaffected by any order you make on this motion.


So with that, I would like to just, if I could, take you through my submissions on the review decision quickly, and then the follow-up submissions on the payments decision.


MR. WETSTON:  Okay, go ahead.  Thank you.


MR. THOMPSON:  Now, in terms of the review decision, that is in the -- my friend Mr. Penny's compendium, at page 5.  To put it in context, you really have to look at the initial motion for review at page 9 and following.


The initial motion for review, with respect to the payments decision, number one that's brought subsequently in January, are different in a number of respects.  So you do have here a bit of a second-kick-at-the-cat situation with this January motion seeking review of the payment amounts decision.


Now, the initial notice of motion recited a number of paragraphs dealing with the issue, and then if you go over to page 11 of the compendium, paragraph 11 of the motion, you have the grounds, which my friend Mr. Penny has referred to, but the concern that was being addressed in this motion appears in subparagraph (d), where they say:

"The OEB decision on the tax loss issue is unreasonable, in that it appears intended to result in double counting tax loss credits to consumers, once as a result of the OPG's use of regulatory tax losses to calculate mitigation of the test period revenue, and again in connection with the reassessment of OPG's prior period tax returns when setting payment amounts in 2010 and beyond."


So the motion was paraphrasing the problem as a double jeopardy problem.  There is nothing in here about, This is going to be a $267 million recovery from ratepayers, which is what we see in the reply submissions for the first time.


The other aspect of this motion is paragraph Roman numeral XII, Roman numeral IV, which my friend Mr. Penny referred to, where they were seeking the establishment of a tax loss variance account, and then this variance account would record any variance.  They were talking about differences, any variance between tax loss mitigation which underpins the draft rate order and the tax loss amount resulting from the reanalysis.


What they're now asking for is a variance account, as I understand it, where a number is going to be recorded in it of $342 million.  That's quite a different kettle of fish, in my respectful submission.


Now, that was what the review panel was faced with in considering, Does this motion demonstrate error in the payments decision?


If you see the -- in terms of the prayer for relief, again, back at page 12, that was being requested in the initial motion, OPG was asking for acknowledgments, acknowledgments of the link and acknowledgment of the mitigation proposal is not a gift, an acknowledgment that OPG will under no circumstances be found liable to provide credits to customers on account of any regulatory tax losses which have the effect of requiring OPG to credit customers twice for the same tax loss.


All double jeopardy problems.  That is what the review panel then addressed, if you look at paragraphs -- sorry, pages 5 and following.  The review panel described what OPG was seeking on page 2 and reproduced the four paragraphs of what was being asked for, and, at page 7 determines, on the basis of the information provided in the motion, that that did not raise an error -- got it over the threshold with respect to proving an error.


I submit that decision, informed as it was by the initial notice of motion, is correct.  There is nothing wrong with it, and Hydro One hasn't -- sorry, and OPG has not demonstrated any error in that decision.


So if there is no error in that decision, there is no basis for conducting the further review of the payment amounts decision upon which Mr. Penny has focussed in his submission.


In terms of what happens, were you to agree with my submission that there is no error in the review decision, the motion before you would be dismissed, and, as I say, the result would be that the formal decision on the payment amounts decision would stand.  The directives would be honoured.  They would be reviewed in the next case, but whatever happened there would have no impact on 2009 and 2010.


Moving then to the challenges to the payments decision, here, again, we have the initial attack in November, which I have described, and then we have a revised attack in January, the revised attack, being the January notice of motion, which is the beginning of Mr. Penny's compendium.


You will see now that the grounds for the motion are much strengthened from what they were initially, and the relief being requested is -- again, we are away from these acknowledgments, and we are now asking for an order - I am looking at page 1 - of an oral hearing on the merits and ultimately for an order varying the $342 million reduction in OPG's revenue requirement in the absence of any legal basis for the reduction.


That, with respect, is linked to ground number 3 of the motion -- of my friend's argument, which he says we've been deprived of our opportunity to earn a reasonable return.  I will come to this in a moment, but grounds 1 and 2 are really precursors to a consideration of that ground.


If there is error on an opportunity to be heard, as well as no evidence to support, and you agree with that, the correction of those errors eliminates the ground that we've been prevented from an opportunity of allowing -- of earning our allowed return.  You, in effect, have a decision that correct the errors and provides exactly what they were asking for on this mitigation point.


MR. WETSTON:  By that, Mr. Thompson, you mean the setting up of the variance account and taking that approach, is that what you mean, or are you suggesting --


MR. THOMPSON:  Yes.  I'm saying that no variance account is justified with respect to the correction of errors for an opportunity to be heard --


MR. WETSTON:  Right.


MR. THOMPSON:  -- and making the findings that should have been made in the first instance.


And if you find that those were errors, and correct them, then the third ground, which is we're being deprived of an opportunity to earn our allowed rate of return, falls off the table.


The third ground is an alternative.  It is saying, If there were no errors on an opportunity to be heard, and no errors on findings in accordance with the evidence, and those findings stand, then I've been deprived of an opportunity to earn my return, and then I need some relief for that error.


But the scenario where there are no errors on those first two grounds, in my submission, doesn't exist.  Am I making myself clear on that point?


MR. WETSTON:  Understood.


MS. NOWINA:  I don't, Mr. Thompson.  Try again.


MR. THOMPSON:  All right.


Let me try it this way.  Where is his submission?  I will do the best way.


The first ground of attack or first allegation of error Mr. Penny makes with respect to the payments decision is, We were denied an opportunity to be heard with respect to the issue of mitigation being delinked and the calculation of regulatory tax losses in a different manner.


That's probably been corrected in the last two-and-an-half hours.  We have heard a lot about it.


The second error that is alleged is the findings that the Board made, with respect to delinking and the regulatory tax losses amounts, were unsupported by the evidence.  That's an error in law.


The third allegation he makes is, We have been deprived of an opportunity to earn our allowed return.  That allegation of error only kicks in if the unsupportable findings stand.


MS. NOWINA:  It's number 2 I am having trouble with, Mr. Thompson, your second case, and the words you used were that there was an error in the findings on the linking of the mitigation to the tax losses and the calculation of the tax losses.


Was OPG suggesting there was an error in the findings on the calculation of the tax losses?


MR. THOMPSON:  Well, let me try to answer it this way.  I think so.  I believe they're saying that the Board erred in suggesting that they should be calculated in a manner different than what we've calculated them.


MS. NOWINA:  That's not -- I guess I should ask OPG, but my understanding of what they were saying was that, given that the findings on the calculations are what they are, that makes the amount, the $342 million, incorrect, so the delinking even more problematic.


That's what I understood OPG's position to be, but I -


MR. PENNY:  That's correct.  Sorry, that is correct.  It is our position -- we don't attack the finding that the Bruce tax losses should be excluded.  That is a regulatory decision that the Board had the ability to make, and it is really not a factual decision so much as a policy decision.


They didn't like the way we did it.  They changed it, and, in the course of changing it, said, Oh, and by the, way the Bruce taxes should not be part of the calculation.


We are not attacking that finding.  There was a basis for that finding.  We didn't necessarily agree with it.  That wasn't our proposal, but we are not attacking that finding.  We say the Board was perfectly within its rights to make that conclusion.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.


MR. THOMPSON:  My point is -- and I am glad for that clarification.  My point is, from the ratepayers' perspective, regardless of those findings, the evidence as to the amount of the regulatory tax losses to be brought into account, assuming the linkage is restored, because there was no evidence to support that, the only evidence as to amount before the tribunal was the $342 million.


So if you correct for linkage, you have to correct for amount.  So there is no carry forward into the next test period of either of those two items.  No retroactive change will be on the table.  Does that help?


MS. NOWINA:  I understand your position, Mr. Thompson.  Thank you.


MR. THOMPSON:  Fine.


In either case, the third point comes off the table, if you correct for those -- if you correct for those findings.  That's the point I was trying to --


MR. WETSTON:  That point goes to your fair return argument, to the return, the third point?


MR. THOMPSON:  Yes.  Right.


So the issue --


MR. WETSTON:  Is that correct, Mr. Thompson?  I don't want to put words in your mouth.  I thought that was the point.  It goes to the third point, which, if you make those findings, then the third one drops off?


MR. THOMPSON:  Yes, right.


MR. WETSTON:  Right.  Thank you.


MR. THOMPSON:  And so the -- in terms of what's the priority question for you in terms of the payments decision, Board Staff, in its submission, says it is this issue about having been deprived of their opportunity to earn a reasonable rate of return.


I say, no, that is not the priority question.  The priority question is the second one, unsupportable findings. Correct them, and we are done.


Now, that's substantively where my submissions take you.  I would like, if I might, just to clarify the concerns that were raised through the history of this with respect to those amounts.


I don't want to dwell on this, but Mr. Penny challenged it in his submissions and I feel obligated to respond.


This goes to my letter of April the 1st, and in there I did mention in the middle of the page, middle of page 1, that when we received OPG's initial motion for review in late November, we sought information that would help us better understand its implications.


I spoke to Mr. Barrett, and then sent him a letter, and I subsequently got a response from Mr. Penny.  And I have that correspondence, if you wish to view it.


My point here was not that I didn't identify the possibility that the variance account that they were seeking in that initial motion could be a debit or credit.  The motion suggested they were concerned about double counting, and the variance account, as I understood it, was focussed on that aspect of their motion.


But I did ask:  What is the calculation?  What is your current calculation of the amounts that are going to get recorded in this variance account you're suggesting?  It would be helpful in we understood that before responding to your motion.


The response that I got from counsel to the question about information, was as follows, "The second issue", that's the question about information:

"... has to do with your questions on the substance of OPG's motion.  No doubt there will be a procedural order from the OEB in due course dealing with OPG's outstanding motion.  Until such matters are clarified by OEB direction, it is not OPG's intention to respond piecemeal to individual requests for information."


MS. CAMPBELL:  Mr. Thompson before you continue, I know that you have just been reading from correspondence.  You did provide us with copies.  Is it your intention that the Panel be provided with copies of this correspondence?


MR. THOMPSON:  Yes.  I am happy to do that.  That is probably best, if that is acceptable to the Panel.


MR. WETSTON:  Any objection?


MR. PENNY:  I don't think it is material to anything, but...


MR. WETSTON:  Any real objection?


MR. PENNY:  If Mr. Thompson wants to put letters before the Board, he can put letters before the Board.


MR. WETSTON:  Thank you, sir.  We will receive them.  Thank you, Mr. Thompson, Mr. Penny.


MR. THOMPSON:  Do I have to give that a number now?


MS. CAMPBELL:  I am afraid, Mr. Thompson, yes, you do.  I understand from Mr. Battista that will be K1.1.


MR. BATTISTA:  Correct.


MS. CAMPBELL:  Mr. Battista says I am correct.

Exhibit No. K1.1:  Letter dated November, 2008


MR. THOMPSON:  Well, then I will just quickly walk you through this materially.


The cover letter is the letter that was sent to us by Mr. Barrett containing the initial motion.


The next letter is my letter of the 26th, following my conversation with Mr. Barrett, and you will see here that I was trying to get some feel for what this all means.


If you go over to the second page, starting about the middle of the page, we refer to the motion, and, in the third -- sorry, fourth last paragraph, we had the question:

"Another question is whether the tax loss variance account OPG is proposing is likely to produce material credits for the 2008 and 2009 years..."


And so on.  Sorry, it is a previous:

"One question we have is whether this proposal is likely to produce material debit amounts for the period that should be ending December 31, 2007 which OPG will be seeking to recover from electricity consumers in its next payment amounts application."


So I was trying to get a feel for, What does this all mean?  And Mr. Penny's response is the next document, in which he chastises me for calling Mr. Barrett and gives his response that I read into the record in the last paragraph.


The following document is my e-mail to Mr. Penny responding to his letter, indicating the reason I called Mr. Barrett was he had sent us the motion, and had also mentioned a letter that we had gotten earlier from Mr. Barrett, which is the next document, the 13th letter, dealing with OPG's formal order.


There he had said, If you have any questions, call me.  So that's why I actually called Mr. Barrett.


But the point is we asked for the information.  And nothing forthcoming -- nothing forthcoming in the next motion in terms of describing the impact of this on -- potential impact on ratepayers.


And then in his reply submissions, which we got on Monday, we find, starting from pages 10, paragraphs 10 through to 23, we now have a very detailed description of their current calculations.


And the upshot of it all is that the $342 million, based on their calculations, is $65 million - you see that at paragraph 22 - which means this variance account that they're asking for is being requested to enable them to preserve their rights to claim $277 million from ratepayers with respect to the 2009 and 2010 test periods.


So that is, in my submission, significant and relevant to a discussion of what's the appropriate corrective action to take with respect to the errors in the payments decision.


That's why if this undue emphasis on, We need this variance account, we need this variance account, suggests to me that the real purpose - and invite you to consider the submission - the real purpose of this is they're now trying to protect themselves from any double jeopardy, which was the initial pitch, but they're now trying to create an opportunity to recover $277 million from ratepayers, which they themselves have suggested was inappropriate in their initial application.


On the point that the Chairman asked Mr. Penny about, where did the mitigation proposal come from, it certainly came from Hydro One, and mitigation implies giving up something you would otherwise be entitled to.


Now, I acknowledge that in this case it was certainly tied to their calculation of regulatory losses, and the Board should not have found otherwise, and I acknowledge that the amount was $342 million.  Nobody questioned that, and the Board should not have found otherwise.  But it was characterized as mitigation.


MR. WETSTON:  Mr. Thompson, I know that you will take this in the spirit of how I suggest it, but you do have the habit of mixing up Hydro One with OPG in your submissions, and I can understand that, because the electricity sector is complicated in Ontario.  But I just want to make sure that the record reads accordingly.


Unless we send this over to Ms. Formusa and she is shocked by the notion of having been tied into this proceeding...


MR. THOMPSON:  Thank you, Mr. Chairman.  I must be nervous.


MR. WETSTON:  No, it's the complication of the sector, Mr. Thompson.


MR. THOMPSON:  Let me conclude by submitting to you what I have suggested in my follow-up number 1 in my letter in terms of the differences between the initial motion, which I have described on page 1, and the follow-up motion, which I have described on page 2, where I say:

"The reply submissions materially change the nature of the initial and subsequent motions for review, in that the essence of what OPG is now saying is that the Board's finding with respect to tax losses and mitigation are incorrect, and the variance account is needed to enable it to take advantage of these incorrect findings by increasing rates by $277 million."


I then go on and say:

"Where you make allegations of errors, normally you ask for them to be corrected."


And OPG is acknowledging that is what they're asking in this case, and they accept the submission, as I understand it, that I have made in the second last paragraph:

"The reviewing tribunal should reverse the findings and substitute those with respect to tax losses and mitigation which are compatible with the uncontradicted evidence that was adduced at the hearing."


Just stopping there, that's both as to linkage and amount, and without prejudice to the rights of any party in future proceedings to question the methodology to be used to determine the amount of OPG's prior period tax losses allocable to ratepayers, and I want to emphasize that would have no impact on 2009 and 2010 rates.


And those are my submissions, subject to the request that my client be awarded its reasonably incurred costs for participating in this process.  Thank you.


MR. WETSTON:  Thank you, Mr. Thompson.  We have no further questions.


It's quarter to 1:00, Mr. Shepherd.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Mr. Chairman, I have 40 to 50 minutes.  Would you like me to do it after lunch?


MR. WETSTON:  I think probably we should do that.  Why don't we -- do we need much of a break?  Forty-five minutes, would that be sufficient so we don't take the whole afternoon?  You will have some reply submission, I take it?


MR. PENNY:  Perhaps.


MR. WETSTON:  Perhaps?  Okay.  So why don't we take -- is that enough time for you?  Is 12:30 sufficient? -- 1:30, I should say?


MR. SHEPHERD:  12:30 is not sufficient.


MR. WETSTON:  Time goes by fast, faster than normal.  So why don't we just make it 45 minutes, and then we can come back and hear your argument.  Thank you very much.


--- Luncheon recess taken at 12:45 p.m.


--- Upon resuming at 1:30 p.m.


MR. WETSTON:  Thank you.  Mr. Shepherd.

Submissions by Mr. Shepherd:


MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you, Mr. Chairman.


Let me start, if I can, by focussing for a minute on what we think really happened here in the decision.  What really happened is that OPG asked for something from the Board, something very specific, and the Board gave it to them.


Now OPG is coming in complaining that they got what they asked for.


Now, let me drill down on that a bit, because I am absolutely not making this up.  There are two things under consideration in this motion.  The first, OPG asked the Board to treat its tax costs during the 21-month test period as zero.


The evidence clearly shows that, in fact, taxes were going to be more than that.  I think the number is about $130 million.  But OPG asked the Board to treat it as zero and the Board said, Okay, we will do that.


Now, before I leave that point, let me just make clear that OPG wasn't arguing that this was proper regulatory accounting.  They calculated that they had almost a billion dollars of regulatory loss carry forwards, tax losses that arose out of the regulated assets.


In their view, if they had been in a separate company, they would have those available; if the regulated assets had been segregated, they would be available.  And we agree with them on that.  But what they said was they also have an argument they could simply keep those.  They said it time and again in the evidence, in their argument.  They said, We don't have to give these to the ratepayers.


So they were not asking the Board to find that they were required - and, by the way, that is their word, "required" - they were not asking the Board to find that they were required to apply these notional losses to reduce the revenue requirement.


They were asking the Board to allow them, to give them permission, to do that voluntarily as a way of mitigating the substantial rate increases that they were proposing.


This distinction is important, because they're now saying, Well, the delinking matters to us.  Well, it didn't before.  When they came in before, they said, We want to do this, because we're good guys.


Now, then OPG didn't stop there.  Stopping of the current tax cost only used up less than half the losses, so -- and they weren't going to have enough income in the test period to get rid of the rest.  So what they proposed was that they be allowed to apply those notional tax losses - and, again "notional" is their word, it is not our word -- to notional income for the test period.  So they didn't have the losses, in fact.  They didn't have the income, in fact.


And they wanted to get to a notional impact on revenue requirement, $228 million, and reduce their revenue requirement by that amount.


They asked the Board, Can we please do that to mitigate our rate increase?


Now, let's keep in mind that whatever their justification for tying the tax losses to the request to make the tax amount zero, and whether they could argue, Well, you know, it might be required, even if it isn't - and we're not asking the Board to say that - maybe there is an argument on both sides.


There was never any legal justification for the further reduction in the revenue requirement.


MR. WETSTON:  Mr. Shepherd, one of our challenges, of course, is to try and, after argument, sort out the arguments of OPG, as well as of course yourselves.


I am a little surprised, and you may be correct, obviously, and I am not suggesting that you are not correct, but this issue of didn't have the losses and didn't have the income seems a bit contrary to the argument that was put forward, and we were referred to a number of times in places - my memory won't help me too much right now on finding them quickly, but it seems a bit contrary to the suggestion made by Mr. Penny that, indeed, that was not the case.


I am not suggesting you are right or that he is right or wrong, but I would really like, as much as possible, to try and understand at least that reference, because you make a pretty strong statement they didn't have either.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Probably the easiest thing to do -- I was going to take you to a couple of these references, but I will take you to a couple now.


MR. WETSTON:  I don't mind if you do it later, but it is up to you, if it just breaks up your argument, but I would like you to address it.  It's up to you.


MR. SHEPHERD:  I will finish this point, then, and I will take you through those.


MR. WETSTON:  I have the thought, anyway.  I will come back to it.


MR. SHEPHERD:  My point here is there was never any legal justification, even possible legal justification, for this further reduction in revenue requirement, the $228 million.  That was always entirely voluntary.  The way you test that is ask yourself:  Had they not offered that reduction, and we, the intervenors, had said, Wait a second, you're going to have losses in the future.  Can we have that money now?  What would have been our argument?


Answer:  We wouldn't have had one; zero.  There is no possible way we could argue that a future tax loss should be applied to this test period.


That was always simply voluntary mitigation.  So when Mr. Penny says none of this was voluntary, that is just not correct.  So what did the Board say in this?


On the first point - that is, We want the tax amount, the cost in the test period to be treated as zero - the Board said, Well, we're not convinced of your calculation of the tax losses, but we don't have sufficient information to get to the right number, and, in any case, we're not convinced that you have applied the stand-alone principle properly, but that also wasn't fully argued before us.


But since your own evidence is that you are not required to do this, but you want permission to do that, we will give you that permission, okay.  That's fine.  You want it to be zero; we will let I have it as zero.


Now they are complaining about that.


On the second point, they said, We'll also give you what you asked for, but it wouldn't be fair to give you everything you asked for, $228 million of mitigation, because we have reduced your deficiency in some other areas.  So because we have reduced your deficiency by 22 percent, it is only fair that we only hold you to 22 percent of the voluntary mitigation that you offered.  That's why it is 170 instead of 228.


So let me go to -- I know my friend is going to argue none of this was voluntary.


So let me go to the evidence that they filed.  I am looking at the OPG compendium of evidence, and I will start at page 29.


In the interrogatory, there is quoted Mr. Penny from February 6th, where he says -- and this is in that middle period:

"There actually are not corporate tax losses anymore."


So if I could just stop there, this is not an issue.  There were in fact no tax losses.  They're gone.


So I am going on:

"They were actually used, but what we have done is, because we understood that the regulated assets were to be treated on a stand-alone basis, we have notionally ..."


And they use that word many times throughout:

"...preserved those tax loss carry forwards that were attributable to the regulated business.  And even though they corporately actually don't exist anymore, we are giving the customers the benefit of those tax loss carry forwards."


So ask yourself the question:  Do they mean giving or do they mean we have to do it?


Well, the answer, I think, is most easily found in -- at page 75 is probably the easiest one to look at of the same compendium.


This is Mr. Barrett giving evidence in response to questions from Mr. Rupert.  Mr. Rupert is trying to understand, Why are you doing this, something that the Board has asked today, as well.  Why did you do this?


Mr. Barrett says, and I am reading from line 4:

"We certainly reflected on where the benefit of these tax losses should ultimately go.  To be perfectly candid, there is an argument that could be made that since these tax losses arose prior to April 1st, 2008, that OPG should retain all of the benefits associated with those tax losses and not return them to ratepayers.  But in the end, we decided that was not appropriate."


Then if you go on to line 20, Mr. Barrett says, in response to a question from Mr. Rupert -- Mr. Rupert is saying:

"So this was as at your discretion?  You had a choice of whether you did that or not?"


Mr. Barrett's answer is:

"Yes, we do not believe this treatment is required, but we do believe it is appropriate."


That sounds pretty voluntary to me.  There are, by the way, dozens of references like that in the evidence.  I could go on to a number of similar quotes that say essentially the same thing.


So in our view, the Board gave them, in fact, what they asked for.  So when Mr. Penny asks in his argument this morning:  What's the basis for the Board reducing the revenue requirement by $342 million?  The correct answer to that is:  Because you asked for it.  You didn't have to have that reduction, and you came to the Board and said, Please let us reduce our revenue requirement.


Now, on the face of it, that should be end of the matter.  There is nothing really to appeal from.  How could how the Board characterized it have any impact on the result?  They got what they asked for.


The NGEIR decision requires that the alleged error must be material and relevant to the outcome of the decision.  How could giving somebody what they asked for be material and relevant to the outcome of the decision?


We joked in the hall the other day in my office, What would happen if this ultimately went to Divisional Court?  I would have to go and see this argument, because Mr. Penny would be saying, My Lords, it was a dastardly deed.  They gave my client what they asked for.  How horrible is that?


But OPG did launch a motion for review seeking to challenge the Board for giving them what they asked for, but for different reasons.  And we all thought that the purpose of that was to avoid double jeopardy.  You saw that in the responses.  You saw that in the motion itself.


I just want to walk you through that prayer for relief, because it is important to understand what they, in fact, asked for.  They asked for four things, on page 12 of the compendium.  They asked for four things.


First, they asked for a clear acknowledgment of the link between the losses and the mitigation.  Now, if I just stop there, they did request that in the application, absolutely.  They asked that the tax losses to be applied to mitigation.


But that clear acknowledgment that they're asking for could actually have no legal impact in and of itself.  If that was the only thing they asked for in the motion for review, the Board could quite correctly point out, Well, and so?  How does that matter?


So then they asked for three other things.  The second thing is they asked for a declaration that it was not a gift; that is, that they were not doing something they didn't have to do.  But as you've seen from my quote - and there is many others - in fact, that's contrary to the application which said this is a gift.  We want to do this.


The third thing they asked for is an acknowledgment that a future Board wouldn't put them in double jeopardy.  Well, the Board's already said it's not within the jurisdiction of a review panel to do that, and, in any case, that is another thing they didn't ask for in their application.


The fourth thing they asked for was a variance account, and that's a variance account that, again, they never asked for in the first place.


So what they had is one thing that didn't matter, which is a legitimate subject of a motion for review, but they would lose on the threshold issue, because it didn't matter and three things that are not legitimate subjects of a motion for review, because they're not things they asked for in the first place.


Needless to say, we think that motion was correctly denied.


Now, until this week, we didn't understand why they were on about this.  It seemed to us to be an overreaction to talk about double jeopardy, and we said that in our submissions.  Now we find out what really happened.


This week, Mr. Penny in his reply argument threw in some evidence -- and, by the way, there is no evidence on this calculation.  There is only the statement in the reply that the tax losses are not $990 million.  They're $140 million.


That calculation never surfaced on the previous motion, as you've heard.  It was requested and not provided.  We still don't have the calculation.  The Board doesn't know how they got to this number.  All they know is Mr. Penny thinks that is the right number.


Let me just comment on Mr. Penny's exchange with Ms. Nowina this morning.  He was asked:  Was this explicit in any of the materials?  He argued, Well, it wasn't as explicit as it is now.  It was there somewhere.  We should have figured it out.


So I guess I ask the follow-up question:  Why is it that Mr. Thompson, Mr. Shepherd, Ms. Nowina and Mr. Wetston didn't see this impact before this week, if it was there?


I understand how I might miss it.  I get that, but I don't understand how the other three of us didn't get it.


So now I understand.  OPG looked at the original decision and the decisions about how to calculate regulatory tax losses, the comments, if you like, because they weren't -- it was never argued before the Board, so it wasn't really a decision.  It was comments.  This is what we think about the calculation.


And they said, Oh, my goodness, we just gave the ratepayers $850 million of tax losses that we didn't need to give them.  How do we get them back?


That's what this is really all about.  That's what we're talking about here.  So they looked at the decision and they realized they didn't ask for any mechanism to true-up the tax losses, so what to do?  What they needed was a do-over.


Unfortunately for them, the OEB doesn't really have a procedure for do-overs.  Once you have a decision on your application, it's done.  You can't come back later and say, Oh, I forgot to ask for this thing.  Can I have this additional thing that I missed?


So they tried to shoehorn this into a motion to vary, asking for three separate grounds of relief that are not in the original application, as I just went through, and one that doesn't matter, trying, by that means, to indirectly -- the whole point of it was to get the variance account so they can indirectly get back this $850 million of tax losses.


So why didn't they just tell everyone in November or December:  We want this additional $850 million?


I don't know why that is.  I am not going to speculate, but I can tell you what the result is.  The result is we actually disagree with the Board's decision on how they propose to calculate the tax losses, the regulatory tax losses.  We don't think it is correct.


Like OPG, we didn't have an opportunity to argue that, because the decision dealt with it afresh.  But the interesting aspect of this is we couldn't have filed a motion to vary.  Why?  Because the Board gave us what the applicant offered.  So we could not have met the test that there be a material impact.  We couldn't have filed a motion to vary.


Even if we had known the dollar impact, we couldn't have filed a motion, because we already had the reduction in rates.


Now, once OPG filed their motion to vary, all of that changed.  Once they asked for a variance account, that $850 million could come back to bite us, if they won on their motion, but neither we nor the Board knew that.


So at that point, we had no basis on which to file a motion to vary.  We didn't have the facts available to us, even though one of the intervenors requested them.


So the bottom line here is, we think -- let me just take you to one thing so that you can understand that.  As I said before, I am not making this up.  The parties wanted to look at these calculations.  Mr. Penny says, No, we didn't -- they weren't raised.


So I am going to take you to the supplementary compendium, if I can find it, at page 8.  That is an interrogatory from Board Staff saying, in effect, Please give us all of the information that we need to look at these tax losses to do the calculation, the tax returns, how you allocated them, the income sources all of that stuff.


There are seven refusals in this --


MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Shepherd, before you go on, I haven't been able to find that yet.


MR. SHEPHERD:  It is in the supplementary compendium which is attached to the reply submission in my case.  I don't know where it is in yours.


MR. WETSTON:  Is it interrogatory 117?


MR. SHEPHERD:  Interrogatory 117 is at page 8 of that compendium.


MS. NOWINA:  I've got it.


MR. SHEPHERD:  See you Board Staff says, Give us the tax returns, give us a breakdown, et cetera, et cetera, all the way through, so that you can do the calculation and figure out:  Is that $990 million correct?


So they say, at the top of page 9:

"OPG declines to provide the requested tax returns, because it is not relevant to the determination of the payment amounts."


It goes on the next paragraph:

"There would be a complex reconciliation to make it comparable to stand-alone tax information."


Now, remember, they have already told the Board the number is $990 million, but now they're saying, Oh, it is too complicated to show you the calculation.


Then on the next page, under B, where it says "refer to the above", they were asked for a spreadsheet to show the allocation.  They say:  Please refer to the discussion, i.e., "no".  Similarly, with C, they were asked for the calculation for Ontario purposes, and so on.


I could take you through all of it, but the point is they basically said, We're not going to let you look at this calculation.


So, in fact, in our final submissions, we said, We don't think there is enough information to figure out how this was allocated between regulated and unregulated.  We think there should be.


So, in fact -- well, okay, let me cut to the chase here.


On this part of the argument, our submission is simple.  OPG said, We want to reduce our payment amounts by $342 million.  We don't have to, but we want to.


The Board doubted the calculations, but didn't have the information to do them properly - everybody agrees that is true - but gave them the reductions they asked for, and OPG now regrets offering those deductions and wants them back.


Our argument is it is too late.


I want to turn to a second argument now.  This is an argument from Mr. Penny and supported by Mr. Stephenson.  That is that there was a denial of natural justice.


His argument -- I think it is fair to say his argument is, once the Board started to consider an alternative approach to the tax losses and how they connect or not to the mitigation issue, it could not, in law, make a decision on that basis without allowing the parties to make submissions on that approach.


I think, in fairness, that's what -- that's the principle they have offered, and they have cited a number of regulatory tribunals for that.


I just note - and I think, Mr. Chairman, you have already twigged to this, but I will just add it, anyway, because I like it - none of the cases deal with an economic regulator.  They all deal with tribunals who are in the dispute-resolving business, an arbitrator, Workers Compensation, labour relations.


I say to them, Show us some cases where the court says that an economic regulator can't consider anything other than the submissions put to them by the parties.  In fact, it wouldn't make sense.


Economic regulators don't decide a lis inter partes.  They have a statutory mandate to reach a specific result, just and reasonable rates, for example, or whatever, but they always operate under a statutory mandate, and they have a special expertise to bring to that process.


The parties provide input, but the regulators also put their own knowledge and experience into the equation, and that's how they produce the result.


So I don't believe there will, in fact, be any cases that say that a specialized economic regulator is obligated to stick to the menu that the parties puts to them.  And if you can imagine how that would fundamentally change how this Board makes decisions, the Board would have to treat the proposals of the parties as menu items, pick from them, or, if it didn't like anything on the menu, it would then have to reconvene its hearing in the middle of writing its decision to ask, Well, we're thinking about this.  Is that okay?


That is not how the Board does things.


MR. WETSTON:  It kinds of depends on the materiality, don't you think, Mr. Shepherd, a little bit?


MR. SHEPHERD:  The Board always has the right to do that.  The question is not whether they have the right to do it and whether it is a good idea sometimes.  It is whether they're obligated in law to do that.  The argument is they're obligated in law to do that.


MR. WETSTON:  What I'm suggesting is that maybe if it is material enough, there might be a legal obligation to it.  That is really my only suggestion.  Maybe you reach that point, but...


MR. SHEPHERD:  I guess I would put it that that might well be true, but I have never seen any law that suggests that.  So if the argument is there is a legal rule, I think the answer is: There is not.  The Board could make a rule, but right now there isn't one.


MR. WETSTON:  This case is complicated enough as it is, but I take your point.  I understand your point.  Thank you.


MR. SHEPHERD:  I want to add one other thing about the submissions.  Mr. Stephenson says the link between tax losses and mitigation was never raised in the proceeding, but that's not actually correct.


There were lots of questions about why they were doing this mitigation and whether there was a legal link between the two.  I just took you to one.  Mr. Rupert asked extensive questions about this, to the point where he actually cut himself off because he was asking so many questions, because he was trying to understand, Why are you doing this?


And their answer, consistently throughout, was, We are not legally required to do this, but we think it is fair.


Mr. Stephenson goes on to say that someone should have asked the consequences of delinking tax losses and mitigation.  I take your point, Mr. Chairman.  Perhaps that is true, but who would that be?  Who had that responsibility to raise that question?  Presumably the answer is the applicant.


It's the applicant who has the onus to put forward the case.  If there were different consequences, if those things were not linked, presumably it was up to them to raise it.


All right.  Then of course I guess you have to ask the question, Why didn't I?  And the answer is they didn't, because their consistent evidence throughout the hearing was, We don't have to do this.  We want to, but we don't have to.


So if they had said, Oh, and by the way, if you don't agree that what we're doing is an application of tax losses, then we don't want to do it anymore, then it wouldn't sound like mitigation anymore, now, would it?


So let me turn to a brief comment on -- a comment by Mr. Stephenson, and Mr. Penny also raised this in his reply submissions, that we appear to be proposing that they should be in court, not here, and that somehow it is inappropriate for them to be here.


I guess I am going to have to apologize for that.  I think it is inelegant wording in our submissions.  What we were attempting to say -- we are not saying that OPG -- that the Board does not have the jurisdiction to consider natural justice and jurisdiction in a motion for review.  Of course that is obvious.


What we are trying to say is after you had a hearing on the application and after you have had a motion for review, your next step should be court.  You can't keep coming back and asking for more motions for review until you get a panel that likes what you're saying.


All right.  So then our result here is we think that the proper answer to the threshold question is, No, they have not met the threshold for the following reasons.


First, the Board gave them what they asked for, and because the Board gave them what they asked for, they cannot meet the test that there was a material impact on the outcome.


If you look at that from another point of view, should the Board be entertaining motions for review because you don't like the wording of the decision?  You got the result you wanted, but the wording is not quite how you wanted it worded.  Is that an appropriate reason to have a motion for review?


In most cases, I would sat answer is no.  Maybe there are exceptions, but in most cases it just doesn't matter.


The second reason is they have raised the question of double jeopardy.  It appears now to be largely agreed they didn't really have to worry about that.


The third is if what they're really attempting to do, as we think, is a do-over, the motion for review is not intended to be a do-over.  If you haven't asked for the right things in your application, you are not supposed to be able to come later and cooper it up with a motion for review.


Fourth, they have already had one kick at this can.  They had a motion for review and they lost.  They argue, Well, we didn't have a hearing.  Well, what they asked for didn't require a hearing.


Fifth, and finally, the primary thing they're really seeking with these motions is a variance account.  That's -- hidden in all of this verbiage, what they want is a variance account.  Why?  Because they wants the $850 million of tax losses back.


They're asking for a variance account now because they didn't ask for it in their application.  Had they asked for it in their application, maybe they would have got it, I don't know, but they didn't.


I just want to comment briefly on Mr. Thompson's proposed approach to this.


Mr. Thompson argues that if this Panel finds that there was an error in the decision to delink tax losses and mitigation, and this Panel fixes that error by restoring that link, then OPG will have received exactly what they asked for, for the reason they asked for it.


And therefore the decision is no longer wrong.  It has been fixed.  Once it's been fixed, they can no longer complain that they're not being given the opportunity to earn their allowed rate of return.  They got exactly what they asked for in the first place.


Now, you might ask, Well, what about the change in the calculation?


I just want to point out OPG never asked the Board to bless the calculation.  They didn't ask for a review of the number of $990 million.  If you look in the material in their application anywhere, you will not see a request, and, as I have noted, they refused to provide evidence that would have allowed it to happen.


So this is where the variance account comes in.  Now they think a review of the number might help them, even though they didn't ask for a review if the first place.  So now they're trying to get a mechanism to review the number, hoping it will get them some extra money, and they're using a motion for review to do that.


In our view, once you fix the error in the decision that is the basis of this motion - that is, if you accept that that is an error, that they should have linked the two - once you have done that, this Panel is done.  You have nothing more to do.


MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Shepherd, can I explore that a bit so I am sure I understand what you're saying?


MR. SHEPHERD:  Sure.


MS. NOWINA:  You say that OPG didn't ask the Board to review their calculations.


Let's accept for a moment a couple of things:  One, that they didn't do that; secondly, that their calculations gave them a number that they weren't required to offer up, but they were   offering up --


MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.


MS. NOWINA:  -- voluntarily.  Nevertheless, the decision told them to calculate the number differently than they did.  First, would you accept that premise, the decision told them that?


MR. SHEPHERD:  I think the decision has comments on how the number was calculated, but there was no review in the proceeding of the calculation of the number.  So the decision questions whether it was based on correct calculations and talks about what the implications of their analysis might be, but the decision does not say, Calculate it differently, I don't believe.


MS. NOWINA:  Does it not tell them, at least in a couple of aspects, how part of the calculation must be made?  For example, in regard to the Bruce?


MR. SHEPHERD:  I think that is absolutely true, but I think it is also true that because this was never an issue in the proceeding, I would not characterize those comments about the calculation as a decision.  Nobody talked about it.  It was never discussed, in any way.


MR. WETSTON:  Let me take it a step further.  I guess in my review of the decision, I actually thought that the calculation that had been put forward was not accepted by the Panel and they put forward another calculation.  That sounds to me like a decision.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, I guess I have two comments.


MR. WETSTON:  I don't know if I characterized it correctly, Mr. Shepherd, but that's how I looked at it.


MR. SHEPHERD:  I think what they concluded is we can't get to the right number.  I think there is a quote Mr. Penny referred to this morning.  We can't get to the number; we don't have enough information.


Secondly, it is, I think, common ground that the number was never debated before the Board.  We never discussed it.


We never discussed it, because they never asked for it to be reviewed.


So this is quite different from the Board saying, You asked us to do X and we are going to do it, but for a different reason, which is what they're complaining about in their motion.


This is, You didn't ask us to do Y, but we decided to do it, anyway.  That's not appropriate and that is not, in my view, a decision of the Board.


Unless you have any further questions --


MS. NOWINA:  I may when you are finished.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Those are our submissions.  I am done.


MR. WETSTON:  I guess I thought Ms. Nowina asked a different question and you answered it differently.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.


MR. WETSTON:  But maybe I am correct.  I don't want to put words in your mouth.  I could never do that, as you could imagine.


MS. NOWINA:  I will try again.


MR. WETSTON:  Try again.


MS. NOWINA:  In your view, OPG did not ask for a review of the calculation.


Nevertheless, I don't think it is a comment in the decision.  Maybe someone can -- Board counsel maybe can take me to the specifics, but I believe that in a couple of areas, the Board finding said, And by the way, while you are calculating taxes, do this.  So they may not have commented on how they had to do the entire calculation, but in a couple of aspects, While you are calculating, do this specifically.


I take it, from OPG's submissions, that it was not their intent to do those couple of calculations in that specific manner.  Therefore, that changed their number, the end result of their number, to something different than they had anticipated when they were offering up their gift of mitigation, if you looked at it as a gift of mitigation.


Would you agree with that characterization?


MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.


MS. NOWINA:  So is it not, therefore, fair to say that they didn't anticipate that their gift would be the amount that it turns out to be?


MR. SHEPHERD:  No.  I don't think it is.  I think -- that's really the crux of my first argument, and so let me put it to you a different way.


Nothing has actually changed here.  OPG wanted to reduce their payment amounts by $342 million, or, actually, it was more than that.  It was $58 million more than that.  But let's just say 342, for argument's sake.


They wanted to do that for mitigation purposes, and they had a calculation of tax losses that would justify that.


The Board says, Well, we're not sure that you actually have that many tax boss losses, but -- remember these are not real tax losses.  They're notional tax losses, so it doesn't change the real world at all.


All it changes is now the gift -- let's not call it a gift, because that begs the question a little bit.  The amount that they wanted to give to the ratepayers no longer has -- if the Board's analysis of the tax calculation is correct, they no longer have the tax losses to give.  But remember they didn't have them in the first place.  They're already gone.


So they're giving a notional amount.  So the Board is saying, Well, you don't have this to give anymore, but we assume you still want to give it, because you never had to give it in the first place, and therefore we're going to let you do it.


So the only difference here, the only difference is:  Do they have the same justification Toronto this mitigation, or not?  They're saying, Well, now that we don't have the justification, we don't want to do it.


But remember it was never real money.  It was only money to the ratepayers.  It was never real money to OPG.  It makes no difference to them whatsoever.


If they get what they are asking for here, the result is an incremental $277 million in their pockets that they didn't want last year.  That's why we're concerned about the result.


Have I properly answered the question, or have I still skated around it?


MS. NOWINA:  I will leave it.


MS. CAMPBELL:  Ms Nowina, you had asked whether we could locate something that I believe Mr. Shepherd characterized as a comment, and you thought it might be a bit stronger.  I think what you're referring to would be found on page 129 of the compendium, which is 169 of the decision itself.


I think that is simply an example of what you might have been referring to when you were phrasing your question to Mr. Shepherd.  Mr. Shepherd called it a comment.  You thought it was something stronger.


It is point number 1, I apologize.  I didn't make that clear.  Point number 1.


MR. PENNY:  Yes.  I took you to that in my initial submissions.


MS. CAMPBELL:  I think that is what you were thinking of, Ms. Nowina.


MS. NOWINA:  Yes, yes.  Thank you, Ms. Campbell.


MS. CAMPBELL:  You're welcome.


MR. WETSTON:  The paragraph starting, "In OPG's calculation of regulatory tax losses"?


MS. CAMPBELL:  Yes.


MS. NOWINA:  Yes.


MR. WETSTON:  Thank you.


MS. NOWINA:  "In the Board's view, any calculation of

tax loss with respect to the facility should exclude revenues and expenses related to the Bruce leases."


MR. WETSTON:  I don't think Teresa --


MS. NOWINA:  She is very good.


MR. WETSTON:  That's good.  Thank you.  Did you have any further questions?


MS. NOWINA:  No, I think I will wait for Mr. Penny's response.


MR. WETSTON:  He might not have any.  Mr. Shepherd, are you through?


MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.


MR. WETSTON:  Thank you, sir.  Do you have any new reply?

Reply Submissions by Mr. Penny:


MR. PENNY:  Well, I do, but I will keep it brief.


I am just going to go back in time and do it chronologically, if that is acceptable to the Board.


So starting back at the beginning, Mr. Thompson made reference to the fact -- a number of times to the fact -- the allegation that a $342 million reduction was the evidence or was in evidence, and that's not correct.


The $342 million was never in evidence at the hearing.  That's because the $342 million is a number that results from the Board's findings - and I will take you to those in a minute - that were calculated by OPG and pursuant to the Board's findings.


So the 342, we never talked about a 342.  That was never -- that was never in evidence, because that was never -- no one knew, until this decision came down, how the Board was going to adjust it.


The adjustment that the Board made you find at page 131 of the compendium.  I read you the first part of -- it's the first full paragraph that starts "As for OPG's proposed $228 million mitigation amount".  I read you the first part of that when we were walking through the decision, because I was making the point that that is where the Board finds that it was -- that there was no connection between that reduction and regulatory tax losses.


Then the Board says, after the part I read you in -- I guess, the third sentence, it says:

"The revenue requirement that results from the Board's findings in this decision will be lower than that proposed by OPG.  The Board concludes that it would be unreasonable to hold OPG to its original offer of mitigation.  The mitigation amount of 228 million was about 22 percent of the 1.257 billion..."


Well, sorry:

"... 1,025.7 million revenue deficiency shown in OPG's application.  The amount of mitigation the Board will require OPG to provide for the test period will be equal to 22 percent of the revenue deficiency calculated based on the Board's findings in this decision.  The Board estimates this amount will be about 170 compared to the 228 in OPG's application."


So that, in a sense, is the finding that results in the 342.  Those adjustments, I might point out, in part, responds to Mr. Shepherd's position that OPG got what it asked for.  Those adjustments included things that didn't have anything to do with -- the adjustments to the revenue deficiency, many of them had nothing to do with the tax.  In fact, almost all of them had nothing to do with tax losses.


So we asked for 10-1/2 half percent.  We got 8.65 on the ROE.  We wanted 57.5 percent equity; we got 47 percent equity.


We asked for a certain amount for the nuclear OM&A; we got something else.  The Board reduced it.


So the Board -- that finding, in my submission, in effect, proceeds from the same misapprehension that underpinned the finding that delinked the tax losses from the revenue requirement reduction.


The OPG position wasn't simply an offer to reduce the revenue requirement, as we've discussed, and, frankly, as Mr. Thompson admitted.  It was rooted in the calculation of tax losses.


The Board's approach treated it as if it was purely mitigation, and then said, Well, since your offer was based on your full revenue requirement request and since we have reduced your deficiency by 22 percent, we will allow you to reduce your gift by 22 percent.


But it had nothing to do, I submit - and this is clearly so on the evidence - nothing to do with an accurate calculation of regulatory tax losses attributable to customers.


So the monetary -- and the other thing I would say is the monetary consequences of this were not pursued or dealt with in the decision at all.  As I say, the 342 is simply the number that's implicit in the rate order that was calculated to give effect to this.


It has nothing to do with the proper calculation of tax losses attributable to consumers in accordance with the Board's findings, for example, that -- as we were just talking about, the treatment of the tax losses associated with the Bruce stations, which the Board said should not be part of the calculation.


So it really brings us back, in a way, to a question Ms. Nowina, that you asked Mr. Thompson.  I think you asked something to the effect of:  How can you leave the 342 million in place without reversing the Board's finding on the Bruce tax losses?


And my answer is:  You can't.  You are absolutely on to the point there.  The reason is, as I said, the 342 simply reflects an arbitrary reduction to OPG's proposal based on this 22 percent issue.  It includes, subject only to that, all of the Bruce tax losses, all of the tax losses associated with the 2007 operating losses.


So if there is, as Mr. Thompson now admits, a clear link between the reduction and the tax losses, then there is a fundamental inconsistency in the Board's decision.  It ordered the Bruce operating loss -- tax loss-related stuff out, but it is still embedded in that 342 million.


What was the point, I would say, of the further review of the prior period tax losses ordered to be done by the Board if they weren't going to be used for anything?


Now, according to Mr. Thompson, I guess he would say, Well, if there's more tax losses than what's embedded in that 342 that are attributable to consumers, then the consumers will get additional benefits in the future.


But he's saying, If there are fewer, OPG is stuck with it.  In my submission, that is both inconsistent and unfair.


The first -- Mr. Thompson took you to the first motion and was reading to you from page 11 the grounds, and was trying to make the case, I think, that all OPG ever cared about was the double jeopardy issue.


And so when he went to paragraph 11, on page 11 of the compendium, he said, Well, there's an A, a B and a C, but what they really wanted was in D, and that's the piece that dealt with the double jeopardy point.


Well, that was their real concern, I think is the words he used.  In my submission, simply the concern is equally in those other claims.  So you cannot read this notice of motion as being only about double jeopardy.  It is also about the tax loss carry forward link to the reduction in payment amounts, and the second argument on jurisdiction.


So, in my submission, it is simply a selective reading, if you will, to put it at its highest, of the notice of motion.


Mr. Thompson made some submissions on the review panel decision, and the burden of his position was that we have to show that there was an error in the first review panel decision.


Again, I return to the words of the procedural order that constituted today's proceedings, and the Board defined the capital "D" decision as the decision with reasons of November 3rd, 2008.  And the Board's procedural order said:

"It is the intention of the Board to hold an oral hearing at which the threshold question of whether OPG's motion raises a substantial question as to the correctness of the Decision and the merits of the motion are considered concurrently."


So, in my submission, the Board's procedural order superseded the review panel decision.  The review panel decision is, in effect, no longer relevant.


Now, if you wanted my submissions on why it is wrong, I would be prepared to give them to you, but, in my submission, it is not called for under the -- maybe I should just very, very briefly.


The essence of our position would be, if it was relevant, which we say it is not, that there was no hearing, even on the threshold issue; that the review panel misconceived what the motion was about.  The review panel thought it was about something that could only ever happen in the future.  That is not what the motion was about at all.  Therefore, the review panel did not address three of the four issues that we raised.


Mr. Thompson referred to the letter and I guess was complaining about the fact that he didn't receive some information that he wanted.


Mr. Thompson's letter shows at least this.  It shows that -- this was the letter that he filed that was Exhibit K1.1.  It shows at least this, that Mr. Thompson, indisputably, was alive to the probability that the deferral account would record debits to customers, the deferral account we were asking for.


So, again, I say his feigned surprise is not supportable on the record.


My response contemplates that there would be a process to address Mr. Thompson's question.  This admittedly took an unusual procedural turn, and the opportunity never presented itself, but I would say, equally, Mr. Thompson never renewed his request or asked the Board for the right to make those enquiries.


With respect to Mr. Shepherd, I think almost everything I would say would be repeating arguments that we have already made.  We of course disagree -- this time, we do disagree violently over Mr. Shepherd's submissions.  We don't accept them at all.


We say that they're inconsistent with the record and with the evidence.  I will say, though, one or two -- I had one or two specific comments.


With respect to Exhibit L1-17 - that was an interrogatory in the supplementary brief - we -- of course, Mr. Shepherd didn't read this, but -- because if is not really favourable to his position, but we went on to say the requested information is not needed, because OPG has already provided the relevant tax information, including a detailed computation of regulatory tax income loss for 2005 to 2009.  Et cetera, et cetera.


I won't read it all.  It goes on for a full paragraph explaining everything that we already provided.


If it was absolutely critical to Mr. Shepherd's position, then of course he had the right, even though it wasn't his interrogatory, to bring a motion for that answer.


The other point I wanted to make was that Mr. Shepherd claims that his client, in their argument, claimed they were unhappy about this.  That is a misconstruction of what the SEC argument was.


It is in the supplemental brief.  If you go to it, you will find that their argument -- their only dispute over the tax loss issue was based on a misunderstanding of what it was we had done, which we corrected in our reply argument.  That misunderstanding was they thought that some of the tax losses had been allocated to the unregulated business, and that maybe the regulated side of the business wasn't getting its fair due.


The answer to that was:  That didn't happen.  All of the tax losses were allocated to the regulated side of the business.  There were none allocated to -- in the regulatory sense of the word, I mean.  They were of course used, but for regulatory purposes, they were -- all of them were allocated to the regulated side of the business.


Yes, yes, you are absolutely right.  Sorry, I skipped over one note that I had here.  It had to do with this question of voluntary versus required.


Of course I rely entirely on all of the submissions I have already made on this issue.  I am not going to repeat them, but I wanted to respond to the one point that was at page 75 of the compendium under tab 4 that Mr. Shepherd read, and he said this came up dozens of times.  That's with, great respect, nonsense.  It came up a couple of times.


The issue is what Mr. Barrett said was:  There is an argument that could be made, since these tax losses arose prior to April 1, 2008, that OPG should retain all of the benefits associated with those tax losses and not return them to ratepayers.  That's as high as it gets.


Well all we were saying is there's an argument that we might have raised, not on the stand-alone principle, not on the benefits follows cost principle, but purely on a question of timing, that because they were technically gone before April 1, 2008, which -- and the reason that date is significant is because that is when the Board's jurisdiction kicks in to set payment amounts -- that we could say, Well, sorry, Board, they were gone -- sorry, intervenors, they were gone before April 1, 2008.  Therefore, you are not going to get them.


That is of course an argument.  It is hardly one that you would say constituted what we did as voluntary.  It is an argument that you could lose.  I suppose it is an argument that you could win.  Who knows?  We decided not to make that argument, but that is the only possible sense in which you could say that there was any component of voluntariness to this at all.


In every other respect, it is, as I've said, these were tax losses that were associated with the regulated side of the business, which OPG otherwise considered the ratepayers or the customers -- consumers were entitled to.  That's all I have to say.


MR. WETSTON:  Right.  But, in essence, what you're saying is Mr. Shepherd is reading too much into that statement, and that what you are saying is it would be an unreasonable finding for a panel to make that kind of a finding?  You're suggesting that, on the basis of this evidence, they couldn't make a finding that it was voluntary?


MR. PENNY:  Yes, I am.


MR. WETSTON:  You are?


MR. PENNY:  I am saying it doesn't go that far, anywhere near that far.


MR. WETSTON:  They wouldn't have the benefit of all of this other colour that you have just brought to it, Mr. Penny.  So I am not sure why --


MR. PENNY:  If it had been raised, they would have.


MR. WETSTON:  That's another issue, but on the basis of this transcript, you're saying that that finding that it is indeed voluntary would not be supported?


MR. PENNY:  That is true.  Now, I also, of course, rely upon the discussion that was instituted by Ms. Nowina, that even if you thought it was voluntary, this suggestion that we got what we asked for, in my submission, is just nonsense.  But I have addressed all of that already.


MR. WETSTON:  Yes, you have.  I simply wanted to get your view of this particular point Mr. Shepherd raised.


MR. PENNY:  Yes.  Yes.  It is just an argument.


MR. WETSTON:  I understand.


MR. PENNY:  And a fairly technical one, at that.


MR. WETSTON:  Okay.  I am not sure if that helps or not, but I understand your point.


MR. PENNY:  Thank you.


MR. WETSTON:  That it's a technical argument, I meant.


Any other questions?


We are going to turn our backs on you.


[Board Panel confers]


MR. PENNY:  I will do the same.


MR. WETSTON:  We need a minute or two, just to ensure that we don't have any other questions while we have counsel here, if you don't mind.  I think actually what we will do is take a short recess.  Let's take five or ten minutes just to make sure.


MR. PENNY:  Ten?


MR. WETSTON:  Ten minutes.  So then we can let you know, and you know you don't have to wait around for anything, so we will be satisfied if there are any other questions.


Can we do that then?  Thank you.


--- Recess taken at 2:35 p.m.


--- Upon resuming at 2:45 p.m.


MR. WETSTON:  I don't know why she thinks I can't do that.


[Laughter]


MR. WETSTON:  We have no decision and we have no questions.  So we retired to obviously come back and say that we are thankful for the submissions today.  We are grateful to counsel for your submissions.


We will obviously issue a decision, and we will issue a decision with reasons.  And I don't think there are other matters for us, and I think we are adjourned on that basis.


Thank you all for your assistance


MR. PENNY:  Thank you, Mr. Chairman.


--- Whereupon the hearing adjourned at 2:47 p.m.
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